
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Executive 
 
 
Date: Wednesday, 18 October 2023 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Venue: Council Antechamber, Level 2, Town Hall Extension 
 
Everyone is welcome to attend this Executive meeting. 
 

Access to the Antechamber 
 

Public access to the Council Antechamber is on Level 2 of the Town Hall Extension, using 
the lift or stairs in the lobby of the Mount Street entrance to the Extension. There is no 
public access from any other entrance. 
 

Filming and broadcast of the meeting 
 

Meetings of the Executive are ‘webcast’. These meetings are filmed and broadcast live on 
the Internet. If you attend this meeting you should be aware that you might be filmed and 
included in that transmission. 
 
 
 
Membership of the Executive 
Councillors  
Craig (Chair), Akbar, Bridges, Hacking, Igbon, Midgley, Rahman, Rawlins, T Robinson and 
White 
 
Membership of the Consultative Panel 
Councillors  
Ahmed Ali, Butt, Chambers, Douglas, Foley, Johnson, Leech, Lynch and Moran  
 
The Consultative Panel has a standing invitation to attend meetings of the Executive.  The 
Members of the Panel may speak at these meetings but cannot vote on the decisions 
taken at the meetings. 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Executive 
 

 

 

Agenda 
  
1.   Appeals 

To consider any appeals from the public against refusal to allow 
inspection of background documents and/or the inclusion of items 
in the confidential part of the agenda. 
 

 
 

 
2.   Interests 

To allow Members an opportunity to [a] declare any personal, 
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they might have in 
any items which appear on this agenda; and [b] record any items 
from which they are precluded from voting as a result of Council 
Tax/Council rent arrears; [c] the existence and nature of party 
whipping arrangements in respect of any item to be considered at 
this meeting. Members with a personal interest should declare 
that at the start of the item under consideration.  If Members also 
have a prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest they must 
withdraw from the meeting during the consideration of the item. 
 

 
 

 
3.   Minutes 

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held 
on 4 October 2023. 
 

 
5 - 6 

 
4.   Our Manchester Progress update 

Report to follow 
 

 

 
5.   High Speed Rail 2, Northern Powerhouse Rail and 'Network 

North' Update 
Report to follow 
 

 

 
6.   ID Manchester SRF Update 

Report to follow 
 

 

 
7.   Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy 2023 - 

2026 
Report of the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) attached 
 

All Wards 
7 - 78 

 
8.   Moston Lane Development Framework (Part A) 

Report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Development) 
attached 
 

Moston 
79 - 168 

 
9.   Exclusion of the Public 

The officers consider that the following item or items contains 
exempt information as provided for in the Local Government 
Access to Information Act and that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. The Executive is recommended to 
agree the necessary resolutions excluding the public from the 
meeting during consideration of these items. At the time this 
agenda is published no representations have been made that this 

 
 



Executive 
 

 

part of the meeting should be open to the public. 
  

10.   Moston Lane Development Framework - Acquisitions (Part 
B)  
Report of the Strategic Director (Growth and Development) 
attached 
 

Moston 
169 - 182 

 
11.   Manchester - Major Event Funding Model  

Report to follow 
 

 

 



Executive 
 

 

 

Information about the Executive  
The Executive is made up of 10 Councillors: the Leader and two Deputy Leaders of the 
Council and 7 Executive Members with responsibility for: Early Years, Children and Young 
People; Health Manchester and Adult Social Care; Finance and Resources; Environment 
and Transport; Vibrant Neighbourhoods; Housing and Development; and Skills, 
Employment and Leisure. The Leader of the Council chairs the meetings of the Executive 
 
The Executive has full authority for implementing the Council’s Budgetary and Policy 
Framework, and this means that most of its decisions do not need approval by Council, 
although they may still be subject to detailed review through the Council’s overview and 
scrutiny procedures. 
 
It is the Council’s policy to consult people as fully as possible before making decisions that 
affect them. Members of the public do not have a right to speak at meetings but may do so 
if invited by the Chair. 
 
The Council is concerned to ensure that its meetings are as open as possible and 
confidential business is kept to a strict minimum. When confidential items are involved 
these are considered at the end of the meeting at which point members of the public and 
the press are asked to leave. 
 
Joanne Roney OBE 
Chief Executive 
Level 3, Town Hall Extension, 
Albert Square, 
Manchester, M60 2LA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Further Information 
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact the Committee Officer:  
  

Michael Williamson 
 Tel: 0161 2343071 
 Email: michael.williamson@manchester.gov.uk 
 
This agenda was issued on Tuesday, 10 October 2023 by the Governance and Scrutiny 
Support Unit, Manchester City Council, Level 2, Town Hall Extension, Manchester M60 
2LA 



Executive 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 4 October 2023 
 
Present: Councillor Craig (Chair) 
 
Councillors: Akbar, Bridges, Hacking, Igbon, Midgley, Rahman, Rawlins, 
T Robinson, White 
 
Also present as Members of the Standing Consultative Panel:  
Councillors: Ahmed Ali, Chambers, Foley, Johnson, Leech and Moran 
 
Apologies: Councillor Butt, Douglas and Lynch 
 
Exe/23/83 Minutes  
 
Decision 
  
The Executive approved as a correct record the minutes of the meeting on 13 
September 2023. 
 
Exe/23/84 Places for Everyone Plan: A Joint Development Plan Document for 

9 Greater Manchester Local Authorities - Proposed Modifications 
Consultation  

 
The Executive considered a report of the Strategic Director (Growth and 
Development), which provided an update on the progress of Places for Everyone 
Plan (a Joint Development Plan Document for nine Greater Manchester Local 
Authorities (Places for Everyone Plan)) and also sought approval for proposed 
modifications to the plan. 
  
The report provided contextual detail as to how the proposals had reached their 
current iteration 
  
The Executive Member for Housing and Development advised that whilst there were 
a number of proposed modifications, they did not change the overall vision, 
objectives and spatial strategy of the Plan.  Inspectors had considered that the 
proposed modification to the Plan period were necessary to make the plan sound to 
ensure that, in line with Government Policy, the PfE strategic policies looked ahead 
over a minimum 15 year period from adoption and thus provided a sufficient policy 
framework for the individual local plans which would follow on from the PfE’s 
adoption. 
  
The Plan continued to feature specific policies and an allocation that directly related 
to Manchester included:- 
  
                Delivery of a minimum of around 60,000 new homes; and over 2 million square 

metres of office floorspace in Manchester by 2039; 
                Policies to deliver growth and regeneration across the City 
                Seeking to achieve a carbon neutral city no later than 2038; 

Page 5

Item 3



                Inclusion of the requirement to deliver biodiversity net gain in line with national 
policy; 

                Policies across a range of other themes including flood risk, water resources, 
air quality, economic and housing matters, heritage, culture, education and 
skills, health, and sport and recreation; and 

                Specific allocation identified in the plan for Manchester for new jobs at 
Wythenshawe Hospital. 

  
It was noted that once the Places for Everyone Plan was adopted it would form part 
of Manchester’s development plan.  As such Manchester’s local Plan would need to 
be consistent with it and any neighbourhood plans would need to be in general 
conformity with the strategic policies. 
  
Councillor Leech sought clarification in relation to the proposals for additional office 
floor space, Brownfield land preference within urban areas and the limited release of 
GreenBelt for both housing and employment. 
  
Decisions 
  
The Executive:- 
  
(1)       Note progress made in respect of the Places for Everyone Plan (PfE). 
  
(2)       Agree that the PfE modifications (Main, Additional and those relating to the 

policies map), and associated supporting background documents be subject to 
a period of representations for a period of 8 weeks commencing no earlier 
than 9 October 2023. 

  
(3)       Agree the next steps for the production of the PfE Plan (as detailed in section 

12 of the report). 
 
 
 

Page 6

Item 3



Manchester City Council 
Report for Information 

 
Report to: Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee - 10 October 

2023 
Executive – 19 October 2023 

  
Subject: Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy 2023 - 2026 
 
Report of: Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) 
 
 
Summary 
 
This report introduces the Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy 2023-26 
for Manchester City Council and highlights the key priorities for the next three years. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee recommended to:- 
 
(1) Consider and comment on the information contained in this report. 
(2) Endorse the Strategy for approval by the Executive. 
 
The Executive is recommended to approve the Building Stronger Communities 
Together Strategy 2023-26 
 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
in meeting our Public Sector Equality Duty and broader equality commitments 
The Building Stronger Communities Together strategy will foster good relations 
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it 
The impact of this strategy on protected groups has been considered through an 
Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 
None  
 

Page 7

Item 7



Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the 
OMS/Contribution to the Strategy  

A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and 
distinctive economy that creates 
jobs and opportunities 

The wider work through the Our Manchester 
strategy delivery plans will link the priorities from 
this strategy focused on people and building social 
cohesion to supporting a diverse and distinctive 
economy that creates jobs and opportunities. 

A highly skilled city: world class 
and home grown talent sustaining 
the city’s economic success 

The strategy aims to build social cohesion through 
recognising the importance of and harnessing the 
talents and skills of our local communities; 
attracting talent and diversity and so contributing to 
the city's economic success. 

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 
unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

The strategy aims to build social cohesion through 
recognising the importance of and harnessing the 
talents and skills of our local communities; 
increasing participation and unlocking the potential 
of our communities. 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, 
work 

This report and the strategy highlights how the work 
to build stronger communities contributes towards 
this outcome by ensuring our diverse 
neighbourhoods and communities are welcoming 
and cohesive and therefore a destination of choice 
for people to live, visit and work. 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to 
drive growth 

Building social cohesion across the city will help to 
connect people with one another and local services. 
The work through the strategy to promote inclusion 
will create equal access to the growth, opportunities 
and resources regardless of background. 

 
Full details are in the body of the report, along with any implications for: 
 
 Equal Opportunities Policy  
 Risk Management  
 Legal Considerations  
 
Contact Officers: 
 
Name:  Samiya Butt 
Position: Prevent and Community Cohesion Coordinator 
Telephone:  0161 234 1489 
Email:  samiya.butt@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Shefali Kapoor 
Position: Director of Communities 
Telephone:  07534 398 594 
Email:  Shefali.kapoor@manchester.gov.uk 
 

Page 8

Item 7



Name:  Juliet Felstead 
Position: Policy and Strategy Liaison Officer  
Telephone: 0161 219 6151 
Email:  Juliet.felstead@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): None 
 
 
 

Page 9

Item 7



1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report introduces the Building Stronger Communities Together strategy 

for 2023-26. It provides a synopsis of the consultation carried out in the 
development of the strategy. It also details the strategic priorities for the next 
three years and an overview of pilot activities that will be tested and delivered 
in localities across the city over the next 12 months.  A copy of the strategy 
can be found in Appendix 1 with a summary in Appendix 2.  

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1  We have talked for many years about the values that all Manchester residents 

share whatever their individual identities and how at times of challenge and 
difficulty we all come together.  We focus on what we have in common and 
how we will contribute to Manchester – those who are newly arrived as well as 
those who have always lived here. We have mutual respect – Manchester 
people respect themselves, their neighbours and their neighbourhood, and the 
communities of Manchester. 

 
2.2 Over the last three years, we have seen several challenges, both locally and 

nationally that have tested our understanding of and approach to building 
integrated and cohesive communities.  At a time of economic crisis and global 
instability, we need more than ever to invest in strengthening our communities 
and social relationships particularly across difference. Social cohesion is a 
dynamic and complex set of relationships that can be profoundly influenced by 
local, national and international events and politics. Bad actors and influencers 
(whether they are local or international) seeking to sow division and breed 
hatred between different groups and communities are nothing new. However, 
an increase in segregated and disconnected communities together with the 
impact of social media can mean that misinformation and rumours can rapidly 
inflame community tensions. This in turn can have a profound and long-lasting 
impact on trust and relations between different local communities. 

2.3 Research carried out since May 2020 (Belong Network and University of 
Kent)1 into the impact of COVID-19 on our social relations tells us that 
investment in activities and programmes that foster stronger communities and 
community relations can provide a bulwark of trust, social connections and 
strong community relations that are able to resist the pull of division. 
Furthermore, we know that more socially connected, cohesive local areas can 
bring individual and community level benefits; these include resilience against 
crisis, shock and change, higher levels of individual subjective wellbeing and 
increased levels of volunteering and active social engagement. As such an 
investment in our social relations can be far reaching, bringing a range of other 
benefits for communities, for example on health and socio-economic outcomes 
that are expressed in the Our Manchester vision and strategy. 

2.4 Building the resilience of our local communities and social cohesion is the 
foundation for achieving the Our Manchester vision and is everyone’s 

 
1 Beyond Us and Them; Societal Cohesion in the context of Covid 19, Belong, University of Kent, 2021 

Page 10

Item 7



business. All of us can play a role. It is everyone’s responsibility, in schools, 
colleges and universities, in workplaces, business and in local communities 
and neighbourhoods to foster stronger relationships between different groups 
and communities. From the evidence nationally we know that the best 
schemes for building social cohesion and community resilience are place 
based, locally designed and locally led by well networked local partnerships 
which includes leaders within faith, civic and business networks working 
together with public services to foster stronger communities, building trust and 
legitimacy. 

2.5 We recognise that we cannot do this alone, so we have been engaging with 
our partners from across the public, private voluntary, faith and community 
sectors to better understand the issues that are of most importance to 
everyone and the things that will help us to strengthen the bridging2 between 
and bonding3 within communities. 

 
2.6 Levels of social cohesion are different in different places. Put simply it is about 

how well people from different backgrounds meet, mix and get along together. 
It also relates to levels of trust both between different groups and communities 
and, between individual, groups and communities, and the institutions and 
services that serve them. 

 
2.7 The work of social cohesion is about developing neighbourhoods, workplaces, 

institutions and social spaces where difference is welcomed and celebrated 
and where empathy and curiosity about people ‘not like me’ is encouraged and 
embedded. When this happens, we can move beyond narratives of ‘us’ and 
‘them’ towards ideas of kindness, trust, good relations between different 
groups and communities, and a sense of belonging for all.4 

 
2.8 Manchester has not had a separate social cohesion strategy for the city.  The 

challenge of ensuring that Manchester people live in diverse but stable and 
cohesive communities is a core element of our vision for Manchester as a 
world class City. The Our Manchester Strategy has therefore been our 
strategy for social cohesion.  The reset of the Our Manchester Strategy 
provided an important opportunity for us to review our approach and ensure 
that integration and social cohesion is explicitly embedded into the delivery of 
the strategy and its work streams going forward.  
 

 
2 Creating new relationships beyond own current social circle and building connections that link people 
across different ethnic, religious or occupational groups through shared interests or goals.  To bridge 
‘between’ communities, groups, or organisations. 
3 Deepening the relationships formed or those you already have between people who share common 
characteristics or interests – Bonding exists between ‘people like us’ who are ‘in it together’ and who 
typically have strong close relationships 
4 Successive governments have introduced and implemented policy agendas to build social cohesion, 
which as in the past been referred to as ‘community cohesion’, ‘cohesion’, ‘integration’ etc. We are 
using the term ‘social cohesion’ because we think it best describes how essential strong social 
relations are, particularly across differences of race, geography and class for fostering stronger, kinder 
and more resilient local places. 
 

Page 11

Item 7



2.9 The Building Stronger Communities Together strategy is distinct and 
complimentary of the priorities set out in the Our Manchester Strategy.  
However, its focus is on people and relationships and how these can help to 
build and harness the skills and abilities of residents and utilise the assets in 
neighbourhoods to foster greater contact and participation within and between 
communities and local services, building trust and a sense of belonging to 
local areas and the city. 

 
3.0  Building Stronger Communities Together – Consultation and Key 

Priorities 
 
3.1 The Building Stronger Communities Together strategy reflects the things that 

people told us were important to them and sets out how we plan to strengthen 
and share the great things that come out of Manchester’s shared identity – 
things that boost communities, community relations and social relationships 
and come into play when things become difficult. 

   
3.2 We think the best ways to build stronger communities in the city are through 

the ideas, actions and activities that are generated, designed and delivered 
locally.  The ones which are everyone’s responsibility – not just the Council 
and its partners in voluntary, faith and community organisations. It’s also the 
responsibility of each of us – in school, college and university, at work, in 
business, in communities and in neighbourhoods – anywhere and 
everywhere.   

 
3.3 Throughout March to June 2022, we consulted with Manchester’s communities 

on matters relating to integration and cohesion, to understand the things that 
help us to connect and get along with one another. We know that Manchester 
is a diverse city, so to capture views we ran a 12-week online consultation. 

 
3.4 The online consultation was promoted though our social media channels, 

teams working in the neighbourhoods and our partners across the public, 
voluntary and community sectors so that we could reach as many people as 
possible. 

 
3.5 The online survey included questions asking Manchester residents about how 

well they thought people from different backgrounds got on together in their 
local area, what things they believed were important in making it easier for 
communities to get along, what challenges they felt prevented people from 
getting on with one another and what things build a sense of pride and 
belonging in communities.   

 
3.6 Where possible we used community networks and organisations to promote 

the consultation process and the ways to get involved. 
 
3.7 The online consultation was completed by 441 people. The respondents 

reported to identify with 27 different ethnic groups.  57.4% of the consultation 
respondents identified as female, 14.1% of respondents reported to be under 
the age of 18, 3.2% reported to be aged between 18-25, 15.6% between 26- 
39, 21.1% between 40 – 49, 29.3% between 50 -64,12.2% 65+ and 4.5% 

Page 12

Item 7



prefer not to say.  All wards were represented in the response to the online 
consultation.  Of the 32 wards, Hulme engaged more than any other ward with 
32 surveys completed and Harpurhey had the least participation, with only 3 
surveys completed. 

 
3.8 The findings identified that 45% of respondents felt that people from different 

backgrounds in their area got on well or extremely well together. 37% felt that 
people from different backgrounds in their area neither got on well nor got on 
poorly.  

 
3.9 The findings also identified the following things to be important in helping 

people to get on well together: 
 

 Respect between all, whatever age, faith, sexual orientation, gender or 
ethnicity 

 Being able to trust local services such as the Council, police, health 
providers and schools to be fair and open 

 Living in a community where people feel safe, and that is doing well 
 Having places for communities to come together, such as parks, open 

spaces, schools, places of worship and online.  
 
3.10 The findings showed that people wanted to: 
 

 Get to know and help their neighbours more 
 Hold more inter-faith events, celebrating different cultures together 
 Understand where they can find out about volunteering opportunities 
 Get involved in community events and celebrations 
 Feel a sense of pride in their area and tackle littering and fly tipping 
 Have safe neighbourhoods where people feel confident in letting their 

children out to play.  
 

3.11 Alongside the online survey, we also wanted to have conversations and listen 
to communities about their experiences: what they would like to see more of 
and some of the issues they felt prevented them, or acted as a barrier to 
building relationships where they live. We did this through a series of 23 face 
to face or virtual focus groups and 1-2-1 interviews with communities 
(including our communities of identity) from across Manchester.  These focus 
groups and 1-2-1 sessions enabled us to engage with a total of 241 people.  
These focus groups were important as they helped us to access and engage 
with communities and residents who might not be able to access through the 
online survey and those who would prefer to have a face-to-face 
conversation.  This approach encouraged open and honest feedback and 
helped participants think about the role they could play in creating stronger 
communities. 

 
3.12 The focus groups included sessions with schools, youth clubs,  

 mosques, the Manchester BME Network, elected members, South Asian
 women groups, disabled people organisations and other community focused 
groups.  

 

Page 13

Item 7



3.13  We have continued dialogue with groups, such as the Disabled People's  
 Engagement Group Sounding Board, CHEM group, faith and Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic organisations after the formal consultation process was closed 
to reflect and sense check our findings and adapt the content of the strategy.  
This has particularly helped to make sure that the priorities identified in the 
strategy resonate with communities. 

  
3.14 Strategy Priorities  
 
3.15 The analysis of the online consultation and the outcomes of the focus groups 

identified three key areas of priority for the Building Stronger Communities 
Together strategy.  These are explained below: 

 
1) Relationships ... It’s about all of us  
A little trust goes a long way.  That’s why relationships and trust go hand in 
hand with one another.  Relationships are not just about mixing with people 
who are like us and those we would normally mix with. They are also and 
importantly about speaking with our neighbours and people who are from 
different backgrounds. 
 
Following through on commitments; doing what you say you are going to do, 
being clear, having frequent communications with communities and 
identifying opportunities to come together and problem-solve leads to 
greater trust between communities and organisations and/or systems – so 
that no matter what might go wrong, there is a trust that organisations will 
act in the best interest of communities. 
 
Personally: speaking with our 
neighbours and people who are from 
different backgrounds. Learning to trust 
and be trusted.   
 
For organisations:  developing trust by 
providing equity in public services.  
Earning trust by doing what we promise, 
lots of clear communication, and 
creating ways to come together and 
problem-solve.    
 
Because: a little trust goes a long way 
and so that no matter what might go 
wrong, communities trust organisations 
to do the right thing.   
 

How:  
 Choose to get to know others, 

be confident to reach out to 
neighbours.  

 Talk, listen, think and learn 
with each other.  

 Show respect.  
 Tackle hate and intolerance 

and bias together – educate 
and accept one other.  

 Build trust in local services to 
be fair and open.  

 
2) Participation…. We get involved to make a difference 
Bringing people together to get involved in meaningful activities, for a shared 
purpose and to engage in decisions about things that affect their lives. 
Greater participation and engagement with others builds trust between and 

Page 14

Item 7



within communities and between communities and institutions. The more 
trust people feel in others and in the institutions that serve them the more 
likely they are to get involved. Participation can lead to greater trust – which 
can lead to greater participation.  It is about enabling and supporting 
communities and services to come together; valuing the importance of 
working together to make a difference and taking ownership of the things 
that matter most to us where we live. 
 
Personally: taking ownership of what 
matters to us where we live. Taking 
part.   
 
For organisations: bringing people 
together for shared aims that affect their 
lives. Support to act.  

 
Because: working together has value: 
participation builds trust and the more 
we trust each other and our services, 
the more involved we get.   
 

How:  
 Community events and 

activities.  
 Create ways to get involved, 

improve and influence.  
 Bring groups together.  
 Turn up and get things done.  
 Communicate what’s going on, 

promote involvement.  
 Ensure that our services are 

equitable. 
 

 
3) Belonging….. Making an effort 
Relationships, trust and participation help to bond and bridge within and 
between communities and build social capital.  This in turn helps to create a 
sense of belonging for communities.   
 

Being part of something bigger than just yourself provides a sense of 
belonging and purpose along with a feeling of acceptance and support that 
can help fend off loneliness and help to make you feel more connected to 
those around you.  
 

Belonging is fundamental to our sense of happiness and well-being. A sense 
of belonging means that we have respect for the traditions, cultures and 
diverse communities of a particular place whilst at the same time being 
willing to invest and contribute a shared vision of what that place can 
become. 
 

Belonging in Manchester is about being included, respected, and welcomed.  
It is a sense of feeling valued and accepted whatever your background. 
 
Personally: Contributing to the shared 
idea of what your area can become. 
Respecting traditions, cultures and 
communities around you.  
 
For organisations: bonding 
communities together and building 
bridges between them.   
 

How:  
 Make the effort to connect to 

and welcome others.  
 Create safe, shared places.  
 Develop a shared sense of 

purpose.  
 Share experiences.  
 Be proud and keep up your 

neighbourhood.  

Page 15

Item 7



Because: being part of something 
bigger gives you purpose, fights 
loneliness and connects you to those 
around you. Belonging is fundamental to 
happiness and being well.   
 

 Celebrate diverse 
communities and what we 
have in common.   

 

 
3.16 Based on the feedback from the consultation, the strategy sets out 10 basic 

behaviours and principles to support us all to play our part in the way that we 
think and behave towards others, the way we live and how we view and 
interact with others, especially those we do not know or those who might be 
different from us. 

 
4.0  Measuring Progress 
 
4.1 Understanding and measuring levels of social cohesion is not easy and there 

is no national framework for doing this.  Therefore, we will use the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority’s “Policing and Community Safety Survey”, 
which includes the qualitative measures set out below, to measure overall 
social cohesion in Manchester.  This is in addition to each pilot area also 
defining its own measures, activities and outcomes which reflect the three 
priorities of Relationships, Participation and Belonging in this “Building 
Stronger Communities Together” strategy.  

 
4.2 Support for designing a set of more detailed indicators of social cohesion will 

be sought from the Belong Network, drawing on their work to develop a 
national framework of measurement indicators and recent research and 
evidence gathering they have been carrying out to support place-based 
approaches to measuring social cohesion. 

 
4.3 The Greater Manchester Combined Authority conducts a survey every quarter 

across Greater Manchester, which includes measures of residents’ views of 
their local area and how safe residents feel in their day-to-day life in their area. 
The table below sets out the results for Manchester against the Greater 
Manchester average for the period from July 2021 to June 2022.   

 
4.4 The latest cumulative results show that Manchester was the same or better 

than the GM average for six measures.  These headline indicators will be used 
to frame our approach to measuring social cohesion alongside additional 
qualitative and quantitative measures to be identified through the three pilot 
area work programmes. 

 
Measure Manchester GM 

Average 
GLA  
Average 

1) How safe do you feel in your 
local area 

 

88% 88% - 

2) How safe do you currently feel 
when out and about anywhere in 

81% 81% - 

Page 16

Item 7



Measure Manchester GM 
Average 

GLA  
Average 

your district, away from your local 
area? 
 
3) My area is a place where people 
from different backgrounds get on 
well together (Relationships) 
 

77% 73% 94% 

4) My local area is a place where 
people look out for each other 
 

68% 72% - 

5) I feel a strong sense of 
belonging to my local area 
(Belonging) 
 

71% 71% 59% 

6) I have a say in what happens in 
my local area (Participation) 
 

40% 35% 30% 

7) I am proud of my local area 
 

71% 71% - 

 
5.0 Pilot Activities – Delivery over next 12 months 
 
5.1 Alongside the strategy, a pilot action plan will be established to prioritise and 

test activities aimed at achieving the three priorities in the first year of the 
strategy.  These activities will be developed and delivered in key 
neighbourhoods in north, central and south and will be focused on bridging 
and bonding. 

 
 Bridging activities will help to create new relationships beyond existing 

social circles and build connections that link people across different 
ethnic, religious or occupational groups through shared interests or goals. 
These activities bridge ‘between’ communities, groups, or organisations. 
 

 Bonding activities will deepen relationships between people who share 
common characteristics or interests. Bonding takes place between ‘people 
like us’ who are ‘in it together’ and who typically have strong close 
relationships. 

 
5.2 This is because we know this is a complex area of work and we do not want to 

set out actions that we know we will not be able to achieve or set expectations 
high and then not be able to match them. We really want to start by building 
our understanding about the impact of change in neighbourhoods and on our 
communities.  We also want to test ways of working and codesigning activities 
with communities to identify what is successful in bringing people together and 
getting them involved in local activities. We want to consider how we better 
celebrate what everyone has in common in an inclusive way and respect 
difference. 

 

Page 17

Item 7



5.3 Manchester and its residents have a great sense of pride so we also want to 
capture this, but also build and strengthen the sense of belonging people have 
to their area and the city where this is not the case.  To help achieve this, we 
are working with each of the neighbourhood teams to develop pilot actions 
plans.  This activity includes: 

 
 Identifying small areas to pilot Year 1 activities with a clear rationale and 

story of place for each 
 Identify key activities that will build relationships, increase participation 

and build a sense of belonging (start small and think about bonding and 
bridging) 

 The activities should build on what is already in existence (people, assets, 
and opportunities through existing plans and those planned), but can also 
start from scratch if that is what is needed 

 Measuring change will be important – each pilot will need identify ways in 
which change will be measured including learning on what worked well 
and what did not work so well (so we can transfer this into the Years 2 and 
3 plan / roll out in different areas) 

 The pilot activities will encourage people to come together to volunteer in 
their community, celebrate different cultures as well as the things we have 
in common with one another, and codesign with local services to address 
local concerns.  

 
5.4 A number of workshops are planned over the next couple of weeks, led by the 

national Belong Network to bring together key services and partners to help 
design and develop the pilot action plans and achieve the objectives above. 
The action plans will be ready by end of November 2023 ahead of the launch 
of the strategy in December 2023. 

 
5.5 Discussions are currently taking place about the date and format of the launch 

of the Building Stronger Communities strategy in December and it is hoped 
that alongside a citywide event we also launch the strategy in the localities 
where the pilot action plans will be delivered as a means of kick starting the 
work.  

 
5.6 The strategy and progress against the pilot action plans will form part of the 

Communities and Power workstream of Making Manchester Fairer, reporting 
into the quarterly Communities and Power Forum. 

 
6.0 Recommendations 
 
6.1 The Executive are invited to approve the Building Stronger Communities 

Together Strategy 2023-26 
 
7.0 Appendices 
 

Appendix 1: Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy 2023-26 
Appendix 2: Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy Summary 

Page 18

Item 7



Friends of Our 
Manchester Parks

welcome

Knit 
and
natter

Join
us for a 

brew

Babies,
bumps 

and 
beyond

Babies,
bumps 

and 
beyond

Every week Work
Club

Work
Club

Help to 

get back 

to work

Silver
surfers
Silver
surfers

FREE
drop-in 

sessions

ESOL
classes
ESOL
classes

Enrol
NOW

Our Manchester Community Hub

volunteer

Building Stronger 
Communities Together  
Our Strategy 2023–2026
When people come together in Manchester, 
good things happen

Page 19

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 20

Item 7Appendix 1,



Foreword
Manchester is one of the most diverse, 
resilient, and welcoming cities in the world 
and we are proud of this. Mancunians are 
known for being friendly, getting things 
done and never complaining about the rain. 
Manchester has a history and reputation 
for being radical and campaigning for 
equality and the city’s diversity and changes 
in population are testament to this. 

The past three years have been especially 
challenging, as we have all had to deal with 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on 
our daily lives. Everyone has been affected 
by the pandemic. The impact of physical 
distancing restrictions has led to a reduction 
in social interaction and increases to the 
number of people feeling isolated or lonely. 
In Manchester, during the pandemic and 
through our work on community recovery 
we have been able to identify so many 
positive stories and examples about how 
communities and groups have come 
together and supported and looked after 
those who were struggling or needed help. 
This included food banks, students keeping 
in touch by phone with vulnerable and 
isolated residents, Covid connectors within 
communities, places of worship distributing 
food, advice on fuel poverty and getting 
people connected online. 

Manchester has a long history of supporting 
those in need and welcoming people from 
troubled nations into our communities. 
The Russian-Ukraine war has instigated 
Europe’s largest refugee crisis since World 
War II and Manchester as a city has come 
together to offer support to all those 
affected. Through the Afghan Resettlement 
Programme, Manchester has also been 
supporting Afghan refugees who fled the 
takeover by the Taliban in Afghanistan. 

At a time when the world around us can feel 
divided and disconnected, we know that 
across Manchester there is a determination 
to stay connected and continue to support 
one another to build stronger communities 
that are engaged and making a positive 
difference to the lives of others.

I am proud to be introducing our first Building 
Stronger Communities strategy. I strongly 
believe that by bringing people together to 
get to know and understand one another 
better, celebrate our rich cultures and 
diversity and, importantly, what we all have in 
common leads to increased social interaction, 
trust, mutual respect and a city that feels 
more like home for everyone as they feel like 
they belong, are safe and included. 

It might start with a smile, but slowly when 
people start to come together, they feel 
happier, more connected and empowered to 
make changes and improvements where 
they live.

I hope this strategy helps you to take your 
first step to get to know your neighbours, 
build positive relationships in your 
neighbourhood and take part in building 
stronger communities in Manchester

Councillor Joanna Midgley 
Deputy Leader for Manchester City Council 
September 2023

Page 21

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 22

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  1

Contents
Introduction.......................................................................................................................3

Our communities, our story..................................................................................7

Our vision.......................................................................................................................... 13

Joining it together...................................................................................................... 15

Establishing our priorities..................................................................................25

Our priorities for the next three years.......................................................35

Our behaviours.............................................................................................................39

What we are going to do....................................................................................... 41

Measuring our impact.............................................................................................43

Our governance and accountability............................................................45

Our Manchester – links to other strategies........................................... 47

Page 23

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 24

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  3

Introduction
We have talked for many years about the values that all 
Manchester residents share whatever their individual 
identities and how at times of challenge and difficulty 
we all come together. 

We focus on what we have in common and how we will contribute to 
Manchester – those who are newly arrived as well as those who have always 
lived here. We have mutual respect – Manchester people respect themselves, 
their neighbours and their neighbourhood, and the communities of Manchester.

Over the last three years, we have seen several challenges, both locally and 
nationally, that have tested our understanding of and approach to building 
integrated and cohesive communities. 

The impact of international events and incidents, the unrest in Leicester, the 
protests and violence in Knowsley, Brexit, our changing communities and 
neighbourhoods, the Covid-19 pandemic, the Manchester Arena terrorist attack 
and subsequent inquiry have all reaffirmed that the work to build stronger 
communities cannot be taken for granted and we cannot become complacent.

At a time of economic crisis and global instability, we need more than ever to 
invest in strengthening our communities and social relationships particularly 
across difference. Social cohesion is a dynamic and complex set of relationships 
that can be profoundly influenced by local, national and international events 
and politics. 

Bad actors and influencers (whether they are local or international) seeking to 
sow division and breed hatred between different British groups 
and communities are nothing new. However, an increase in segregated and 
disconnected communities together with the impact of social media can mean 
that misinformation and rumours can rapidly inflame community tensions. 

This in turn can have a profound and long-lasting impact on trust and relations 
between different local communities.

Page 25

Item 7Appendix 1,



4  Building Stronger Communities Together

Research carried out since May 2020 (Belong Network and University of Kent) ¹ 
into the impact of Covid-19 on our social relations tells us that investment in 
activities and programmes that foster stronger communities and community 
relations can provide a bulwark of trust, social connections and strong 
community relations that are able to resist the pull of division. 

Furthermore, we know that more socially connected, cohesive local areas can 
bring individual and community level benefits; these include resilience against 
crisis, shock and change, higher levels of individual subjective wellbeing 
and increased levels of volunteering and active social engagement. 

As such an investment in our social relations can be far reaching, bringing a range 
of other benefits for communities, for example on health and socioeconomic 
outcomes that are expressed in the Our Manchester vision and strategy.

We believe that building the resilience of our local communities and social 
cohesion is the foundation for achieving the Our Manchester vision and 
is everyone’s business. All of us can play a role. It is everyone’s responsibility, 
in schools, colleges and universities, in workplaces, business and in local 
communities and neighbourhoods to foster stronger relationships between 
different groups and communities. 

From the evidence nationally we know that the best schemes for building 
social cohesion and community resilience are place based, locally designed 
and locally led by well networked local partnerships which includes leaders 
within faith, civic and business networks working together with public 
services to foster stronger communities, building trust and legitimacy.

We recognise that we cannot do this alone, so we have been engaging with 
our partners from across the public, private voluntary, faith and community 
sectors to better understand the issues that are of most importance to 
everyone and the things that will help us to strengthen the bridging ² between 
and bonding ³ within communities.

This strategy is distinct and complements the priorities set out in the Our 
Manchester Strategy. The focus of the Building Stronger Communities 
Together strategy is on people through building relationships, participation 
and a sense of belonging.

1.	 Beyond Us and Them; Societal Cohesion in the context of Covid-19, 
Belong, University of Kent, 2021.

2.	 Creating new relationships beyond own current social circle and building connections 
that link people across different ethnic, religious or occupational groups through 
shared interests or goals. To bridge ‘between’ communities, groups, or organisations.

3.	 Deepening the relationships formed or those you already have between people who 
share common characteristics or interests – Bonding exists between ‘people like us’ 
who are ‘in it together’ and who typically have strong close relationships.

Page 26

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  5

What do we mean by 
Social Cohesion?
Levels of social cohesion are different in different places. Put simply it is about 
how well people from different backgrounds meet, mix and get along 
together. It also relates to levels of trust both between different groups and 
communities and, between individual, groups and communities, and the 
institutions and services that serve them.

The work of social cohesion is about developing neighbourhoods, workplaces, 
institutions and social spaces where difference is welcomed and celebrated 
and where empathy and curiosity about people ‘not like me’ is encouraged 
and embedded. When this happens, we can move beyond narratives of ‘us’ 
and ‘them’ towards ideas of kindness, trust, good relations between different 
groups and communities, and a sense of belonging for all. ⁴

4.	 Successive governments have introduced and implemented policy agendas to build social 
cohesion, which in the past has been referred to as ‘community cohesion’, ‘cohesion’, 
‘integration’ etc. We are using the term ‘social cohesion’ because we think it best describes 
how essential strong social relations are, particularly across differences of race, geography 
and class for fostering stronger, kinder and more resilient local places.

Page 27

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 28

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  7

Our communities, 
our story
Manchester has been attracting people to the city from 
abroad since its inception by the Romans in around 80AD, 
but it was the industrial revolution that kick-started large 
scale immigration, beginning with Irish migrants taking 
up work in the mills and followed by Jewish migrants 
fleeing persecution in Eastern Europe. 

Moving ahead to the middle of the 20th century, migrants generally arrived in 
this country because of problems in their countries of birth such as indentured 
labour, rebuilding after the Second World War, and poverty, like the Irish 
migrants a century before. The main immigrants between 1951 and 1971 were 
the Irish, Caribbean (particularly Jamaicans), South-Africans, East African 
Asians from Kenya and people from India and Pakistan. Most of these migrants 
settled around the city centre, with the Irish and Asian migrants choosing 
north and east of the city centre in places like Cheetham and Ardwick, while 
the migrants from Black ethnic groups settled to the south, predominantly in 
Moss Side.

Across the country, conflict played a large part in international immigration 
from 1971 up to 2003, starting with an inflow of people from Bangladesh, 
followed by Ugandan-born Asians, Vietnamese, Iranians, Iraqis, Afghans, 
Rwandans, Zimbabweans, Somalians, Angolans, Bosnians, Kosovans and 
Albanians. People from Bangladesh and Somalia were particularly attracted 
to Manchester, with Bangladeshi people settling in Longsight and Somalians 
in Moss Side.

The beginning of 2004, however, marked a shift in reasons for immigration 
to Manchester; increasingly immigration was due to ‘pull’ factors such as 
employment and education rather than the ‘push’ factors relating to conflict, 
though there were some exceptions. Family ties and changes in legislation 
also started to have a greater effect on immigration to the UK, particularly 
resulting from countries joining the European Union (EU) in May 2004. 

This new-found employment mobility led to migrants from eight of the new 
members, collectively known as the ‘A8’, arriving in the UK in their thousands 
from Europe (the ‘A8’ were: Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, 
Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia – plus Malta and Cyprus).

Page 29

Item 7Appendix 1,



8  Building Stronger Communities Together

The UK was different from existing EU members in terms of its restrictions 
on A8 migrants’ access to their labour markets and state support systems: 
the UK opened its borders, enhancing its attractiveness to new members. 
According to Office for National Statistics (ONS), in 2015, 80% of residents 
born in recent EU Accession countries arrived in the UK after 2001, with the 
largest increase from Polish-born residents. 

In the years following 2004, some restrictions were placed on some new 
EU members (which were lifted in 2014). 

Post-2010, there was a return to Manchester attracting higher numbers 
of migrants in Manchester from countries in economic crisis (eg Spain 
during 2007-2009). 

Further new population trends, such as an increase (beginning 2010-2011) in the 
number of Chinese immigrants, were influenced by the ‘pull’ of Manchester’s 
higher education institutions. Family ties and changes in legislation once again 
influenced change: when the 2012 changes to immigration rules were first 
discussed in 2010 and 2011, spikes in non-EEA immigration were seen.

Textile
industry

1950s
Commonwealth
inflow

1970s
Factory closures,
job seekers leaving

1990s
New industries
for skilled workers

15 June 1996
IRA bomb

2010s

23 June 2016
United Kingdom 
European Union 
membership 
referendum

1940s
WWII

Baby boom

1960s
Manufacturing
diversification

1980s
Low-skilled 
mass unemployment
(45,500 Sep 1985)

Thatcher in power

2000s
High working
age immigration

2020s

Page 30

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  9

For much of the last decade (2012 onwards), ‘pull’ factors continued to 
dominate, though national policy changes (eg the UK European Union 
membership referendum, ‘Brexit’) precipitated changes in the nationality 
of migrants coming to Manchester. In recent years, however, ‘push’ 
factors begin to emerge with the creation of dedicated resettlement 
schemes focusing on those fleeing conflict in Syria, Afghanistan and 
Ukraine, and a bespoke immigration route for people from Hong Kong. 

In 2014 and 2015, Manchester continued to see high numbers of migrants 
coming from EU countries such as Spain, Italy, (both experiencing recession at 
the time), Poland and Romania. The announcement of the Brexit referendum 
may also have affected this movement. There was a smaller immediate impact 
from Brexit in the year prior to the referendum (2015), with increases in EU and 
non-EU international student numbers potentially attracted by a considerable 
fall in the sterling exchange rate between November 2015 and October 2016. 

In Manchester, the post-Brexit period (2016 – 2019) aligned with wider national 
migration trends; though freedom of movement for EU citizens continued, 
post-Brexit uncertainty, the falling value of the pound against the euro, and 
improving economic prospects across mainland Europe, meant that the 
numbers of migrants coming from the EU declined sharply. This was, however, 
offset by considerable numbers of migrants coming from non-EU countries 
and particularly driven by those coming from Asia. Changes in immigration 
policy in 2018 to attract professionals from particular employment sectors 
(such as doctors and nurses) contributed to this movement. 

As with all areas of life, the Covid-19 pandemic affected ‘usual’ patterns 
of migration as travel was restricted: changes in people’s behaviour (such 
as students leaving the city to be with their families) and the disruption 
to standard monitoring surveys means that statistics produced during the 
Covid-19 period are subject to great uncertainty. The publication of Census 
2021 data is starting to give us a greater understanding of how the city’s 
population has changed though we know that Manchester was particularly 
affected by the fact that the Census was conducted during the pandemic 
and some of the impacts of this are detailed below.

Concurrently, students (undergraduates and postgraduates) continue to be 
an important contributor to the city’s population; growth across economic 
sectors, our universities and higher education sector, the attractiveness 
of the city itself, and established communities influence not only students 
coming to the city but them choosing to remain as young professionals. 
Despite concerns that Brexit would reduce the number of EU undergraduate 
students, the opposite has happened in Manchester, with numbers rising 
year on year in the city’s universities. The 2018/19 academic year saw an 
increase in EU undergraduates attending with similar increases in 
undergraduate numbers from the rest of the world. While there has been 
negligible growth in postgraduate students from the EU, growth in non-EU 
postgraduate students was significantly higher.

Page 31

Item 7Appendix 1,



10  Building Stronger Communities Together

Established communities and family and friendship ties, and proximity to the 
city itself continue to influence where migrants and students choose to 
settle: there is clear preference for the inner city and its immediate suburbs 
and the upper and eastern Central wards (Deansgate, Piccadilly, Hulme, 
Ardwick, Moss Side, Cheetham, Levenshulme and Longsight).

The Covid-19 pandemic impacted migration behaviour ‘as a whole’ as those 
wishing to emigrate had to remain and immigration was prevented. These 
restrictions, ongoing changes in migration policy following Brexit, and 
disruption to the usual methods of migration surveillance mean that statistics 
covering this period are subject to greater uncertainty.

The 2021 Census is starting to provide a picture, though this too was affected 
by the pandemic; comparisons with internal forecasting models suggest a 
significant undercount of about 32,000 individuals, with those of working age 
and males most likely to be missing. 

Initial findings reflect our migration history. Just under a third of residents 
were born outside the UK (GM’s figure, and England’s,  is 17%). Our attraction 
to migrants is reflected too: 2% of residents lived outside the UK one year 
before the Census -- more than double GM and England. 

Manchester’s reputation and work over the last two decades to promote the 
city as welcoming and tolerant is evident through the people who choose to 
live here and call Manchester their home. Manchester is the most ethnically 
diverse district in Greater Manchester. In fact, Manchester is the only local 
authority outside of London with residents within each of the 90 detailed 
ethnic groups listed in the Census. This is a key strength of what the city has 
to offer and is celebrated. 

Page 32

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  11

Residents’ view
The Greater Manchester Combined Authority conducts a survey every quarter 
across Greater Manchester, which includes measures of residents’ views of 
their local area and how safe residents feel in their day-to-day life in their 
area. The table below sets out the results for Manchester against the Greater 
Manchester average for the period from July 2021 to June 2022. 

The latest cumulative results show that Manchester was the same or better 
than the GM average for five-out-of-six measures.

Measure Manchester GM Average GLA Average

1. Feeling safe or very safe in your local area 88% 88% -

2. Feeling safe or very safe when out and 
about anywhere in your district, away 
from your local area?

81% 81% -

3. My area is a place where people 
from different backgrounds get 
on well together (Relationships)

77% 73% 94%

4. My local area is a place where 
people look out for each other

68% 72% -

5. I feel a strong sense of belonging 
to my local area (Belonging)

71% 71% 59%

6. I have a say in what happens 
in my local area (Participation)

40% 35% 30%

7. I am proud of my local area 71% 71% -

Page 33

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 34

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  13

Our vision
Building stronger communities is about everyone. 
The responsibility is not on particular communities 
to take action or do more but on everyone to get 
more involved in their community and make new 
connections or build on existing ones. 

Our vision for the city is to support residents to build a stronger and more 
cohesive Manchester. The core of the Building Stronger Communities 
Together strategy is therefore, about: 

Relationships
‘It’s about all of us’ – getting to know one another and bridging differences 
between communities. More people doing things to help them and others to 
belong to their community; those who are newly arrived as well as those who 
have always lived here, engaging, being trusted and trusting others around 
them, including those from different social and ethnic backgrounds. 

Participation
‘We get involved to make a difference’ - helping all communities to feel 
empowered to act to improve their neighbourhood and address shared 
challenges together building on the strengths and advantages of 
Manchester’s rich diversity, cultures and histories.

Belonging
‘Making an effort’ to make ourselves and the people around us a part of our 
local neighbourhood and the city; valuing diversity and difference, and 
celebrating what we have in common. Being proud of the places we live. 
Knowing that all together we belong to Manchester. Whether a new arrival to 
the city or someone whose family goes back generations we celebrate what 
we have in common, the ties that bind us together, and the shared values of 
welcoming and inclusivity. 

Page 35

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 36

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  15

Joining it together

Our Manchester 
The Our Manchester Strategy – Forward to 2025 outlines the priorities that 
everyone in the city – our public, private, voluntary and community 
organisations, and our residents and communities – will work on together. 
The Our Manchester Strategy provides the overarching strategic framework 
that all other citywide strategies and action-plans work towards to put 
Manchester in the top-flight of world class cities by 2025 where all residents 
and communities can thrive.

The Our Manchester Strategy has five key thematic priorities for Manchester 
including building liveable neighbourhoods that are diverse, inclusive and 
equitable. The Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy will 
strengthen the work already taking place to ensure that Manchester has 
thriving and sustainable communities based upon mutual understanding, 
respect and tolerance.

As part of the development of The Building Stronger Communities Together 
Strategy, an Our Manchester themed cohesion workshop was chaired by the 
Belong Network to help Manchester’s leaders to embed community cohesion 
priorities issues into their existing delivery plans. As such, The Building 
Stronger Communities Together Strategy will bring together all existing 
strategies and action-plans with a focus on building understanding and 
relationships between the city’s diverse communities.

Making Manchester 
Fairer (MMF)
As a city, we’re committed to making Manchester fairer through tackling 
health, poverty and other inequalities. The Building Stronger Communities 
Together Strategy will build on the priorities set out in the Making Manchester 
Fairer Action Plan, aligning with its work on Tackling Systematic and Structural 
Discrimination and racism and Communities and Power, so that we prioritise 
what really matters to our communities and residents. 

Page 37

Item 7Appendix 1,

https://www-manchester-gov-uk.uat.jadu.net/downloads/download/7355/our_manchester_strategy-_forward_to_2025


16  Building Stronger Communities Together

This part of MMF aims to understand and address challenges that prevent those 
less-heard to fully participate in their communities and to bring ‘equity’ – equality 
of outcome – through targeting and scaling up resources in proportion to the 
different needs of communities. The Making Manchester Fairer Plan and the 
Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy will work alongside each other 
to drive forward these ambitions. 

We want to make sure that Manchester residents feel confident in building 
relationships in their local area and across the city, feel heard and can influence 
what we do as a Council, as well as feeling that they belong in Manchester.

Equalities 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion are a crucial priority for Manchester City 
Council. As a city, we are committed to ensuring we understand equalities 
and work in line with the Public Sector Equality Duty. As a Council we must 
demonstrate the work we do for EDI and this has been captured and outlined 
in the Public Sector Equality report. Furthermore, EDI has several 
workstreams to tackle health inequalities, structural and systematic racism 
and workforce equality. In addition, MANCHESTER CITY COUNCIL has the 
following EDI objectives: knowing Manchester better, improving life chances 
and celebrating diversity. These objectives are met through several 
workstreams including; scrutiny reports, specialist advice to public services, 
co-ordinating events that help celebrate residents’ protected characteristics 
and equality impact assessments. while there is further work to be done to 
tackle the inequalities mentioned above, the key objectives are being met and 
will continue to be met. Manchester wants to remain one of the most diverse 
cities in the UK and through the above work we can achieve this.

Public Sector Equality Duty report | Manchester City Council

Child Friendly City
Manchester has an ambition to be a place where the Council and its partners 
have committed to advance children’s rights and have worked with UNICEF UK 
to put them into practice. Manchester will be a place that has demonstrated 
how more children feel safe, heard and cared for, and are able to flourish 
as a result. This will be a whole-city approach, where we can empower 
communities to contribute towards making their neighbourhood, and 
Manchester, a better place for all. 

Page 38

Item 7Appendix 1,

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.manchester.gov.uk%2Fequality&data=05%7C01%7Ctom.blagden%40manchester.gov.uk%7Cdac7cb09d4e847e0716c08dbbea232dd%7Cb0ce7d5e81cd47fb94f7276c626b7b09%7C0%7C0%7C638313376062312092%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=XpBveBfHxlnA8vzdVu1KKK8oROyTx2YxDTrY6A9k3RM%3D&reserved=0


Our Strategy 2023–2026  17

To become a Child Friendly city, we want young people to feel a sense of 
belonging regardless of their background, culture, or ability and to have 
the same opportunities to grow, learn, explore and have fun, protected 
from discrimination. We also want young people’s voices to drive everything 
we do – young people’s futures are our priority and the Building Stronger 
Communities Together strategy focusing on relationships, participation and 
belonging builds on the work that we need to do in Manchester to achieve 
our ambition to become a Child Friendly city. This has been developed in line 
with the principles of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 
and UNICEF UK’s Child Friendly Cities and Communities programme, which 
will work with Manchester to put children’s rights into practice.

“If you give young people the tools for us to succeed now, 
then rest assured, the city will be in safe hands with the 
next generation. Let’s make Manchester the best city we 
can for everyone living in it.” 

Virginia Collins 
Manchester member of youth parliament

Youth and Play
Manchester has a fantastic range of youth, sports, leisure, arts, cultural and 
learning opportunities. These are, and always will be, part of the city’s fabric 
and cultural identity, and are hugely important in increasing the quality of life 
for so many and in building social cohesion and strengthening relationships. 
Through these opportunities we must ensure that all young people can access 
our high-quality facilities, including our sport venues, art galleries, theatres, 
music venues and libraries.

Manchester Youth Council are part of the democratic voice of young people, 
and are the elected representatives of young people aged 11–17 in Manchester. 
The young people represent our amazing city and are passionate about their 
heritage and want young people to celebrate their culture and diversity. We 
believe our strengths lie within our communities and networks, and that by 
working together we can make Manchester the very best city for young 
people to have a future in. 

We work with young people to find out the issues important to them and help 
them develop the skills for life to empower them to make a change. The 
young people use their voice to influence and make positive changes for their 
future, creating opportunities for them to make a difference and shape 
Manchester. We want to ensure that our future is a positive one, creating 
opportunities for young people to have their say and be heard, shaping our 
city into a place where they want to grow, work and enjoy life.

Page 39

Item 7Appendix 1,

https://www.unicef.org.uk/child-friendly-cities/home/


18  Building Stronger Communities Together

Manchester places great importance and emphasis on developing and 
growing an enriched youth offer outside of formal education: one that offers 
place, space and time for young people to have access to a variety of services 
and activities. The offer is underpinned by good-quality working practices and 
youth and play facilities for young people in both universal and targeted 
settings. These contribute powerfully to the development of young people’s 
personal, social and economic development.

Young people will contribute to, and benefit from, supportive and dynamic 
neighbourhoods with access to a wide range of youth, leisure, cultural and 
recreational opportunities. Their voice and citizenship will continue to be 
placed at the heart of the city’s current and future identity, recognising that 
our young people are the future of Manchester, economically, socially and 
culturally. They will come to define our city, and its relationship with the 
global communities.

Intergenerational practice contributes to giving people of all ages improved 
intergenerational relationships, it helps to increase trust and respect between 
generations and contributes to improving community cohesion and reducing 
isolation and loneliness. Across Manchester there are specific examples 
of projects and approaches that have increased meaningful interactions 
between people from different ages and backgrounds. These have brought 
about shared benefits of a vibrant, more cohesive community, and supporting 
young people’s educational and skill development. These include mentoring 
programmes, intergenerational leisure activities, and focussed project work. 
Young and older people have increased their understanding of the other 
generation, improving social capital.

Rights to Respecting 
Schools Award
The Rights Respecting Schools Award (RRSA) puts the UN Convention on the 
Rights of the Child at the heart of a school’s ethos and curriculum, not just by 
teaching about children’s rights, but also by modelling and promoting rights 
respecting relationships and behaviours both within the school and outside 
in the wider community. Manchester City Council recognises the positive and 
lasting impact of involvement in the RRSA. We have covered the costs of 
training for all Manchester schools wishing to participate in the award for 
several years and for 2022/23 and 2023/24 we are funding the full costs of 
accreditation from Bronze up to Gold.

Page 40

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  19

The Rights Respecting Schools Award aligns closely with the Building Stronger 
Communities Strategy, promoting six key principles of equality, dignity, 
mutual respect, non-discrimination, education and participation, and placing 
them at the centre of school practice. Children within these schools learn 
about rights - that these are universal and should be protected and upheld 
regardless of age, gender, sexual orientation, beliefs or cultural background – 
empowering them to look out for one another and to speak out when their 
rights or the rights of others are being breached. It also supports work around 
social cohesion and building better relationships, as these positive practices 
and understandings spread into the wider community through school 
communications, engagement activities, and through the words and actions 
of the young people themselves.

In addition to work with schools, Manchester City Council has also supported 
a number of supplementary schools (which work with children at evenings 
and weekends) to participate. There are over 150 supplementary schools 
in the city which are run by volunteers from the diverse range of BAME 
communities and focus on heritage language and culture, religious teaching 
and raising attainment.

Age Friendly Manchester 
Ageing Strategy
We want Manchester to be a place in which people in mid and later life are 
economically, physically, and socially active and where they are happier, safe, 
informed, influential, independent, and respected. The world has changed 
dramatically since the last Age Friendly Strategy was written, with the 
Covid-19 pandemic followed by a cost-of-living crisis. We need to better 
understand and respond to the needs, hopes and aspirations of our over 50s 
and older people right now and in the coming years.

Working with the Age Friendly Manchester (AFM) Older People’s Board and 
AFM Assembly we know that older people in Manchester are still very focused 
on recovering from the pandemic, and the struggles faced by some to get out 
and about. Therefore, the refreshed strategy will provide some practical focus 
to further our collective ambition for more of parts of Manchester to be age 
friendly over the years to come. 

Page 41

Item 7Appendix 1,



20  Building Stronger Communities Together

The strategy has four priorities:

1.	 Being Heard and Age Equality – making sure the voice of people aged 
over 50 is heard and understood. 

2.	 Creating Age Friendly Neighbourhoods where we can all Age in Place 
– by building on what is already good and creating a more equal spread of 
opportunities in each neighbourhood.

3.	 Age Friendly Services that support us to Age Well – by developing a 
stronger equalities approach in commissioning, service redesign and 
delivery. Adopting a prevention approach that supports a greater focus on 
reconditioning. 

4.	 Age Friendly Work, Skills and Money – seeing more age friendly 
employers, and increasing the numbers of people claiming the benefits 
they are entitled to (e.g.) pension credit, and a skills offer).

The Age Friendly Manchester Ageing Strategy will closely align with the 
priorities set out in the Building Stronger Together Strategy. Together, both 
strategies will help to tackle social isolation and develop ways for us all to 
thrive and continue to participate as we grow older. 

Digital Inclusion 
Almost every aspect of everyday life is impacted by digital today – work, school, 
health, community, and more. Digital is fundamental to residents’ lives, so 
supporting digital inclusion is necessary for everyone to benefit. We want 
everyone in Manchester to thrive in a digital world as confident online users 
who can use the internet to do the things that might make their lives better. 

The pandemic shone a spotlight on the issues of loneliness and social isolation in 
our society. One of the few positive impacts was the rise of people using digital 
to communicate; and the benefits of these online communities mean that 
people from diverse backgrounds, who otherwise might not have socialised 
together, can find a common space. However, not everyone has access. 

As more and more of our life takes place online, from chatting with friends 
and neighbours on social media, consuming culture, checking local events, 
to reading local and national news, for those offline the social isolation is 
exacerbated. We recognise that digital exclusion is social exclusion. 

However, the increase in digital communication can increase the risk of 
polarisation, as hate speech and fake news lead to online conflicts that spill 
over into the real world. Therefore, it is vital that digital inclusion work also 
promotes online safety and media literacy.

Page 42

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  21

The Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy action plan will be mindful 
of how digital exclusion can affect members of our communities, and seek to 
ameliorate it, as well as considering the needs of those who prefer to participate 
online only. By advocating for digital inclusion, we will support people to become 
confident and safe online users, therefore opening up opportunities to build 
relationships and participate in activities in our communities.

Tackling Hateful Extremism
Manchester is a diverse, multi racial and multi faith city. It is open and welcoming. 
However, we know, as in other cities across the country, some people feel 
less of a sense of belonging and are leading isolated lives, separated from 
the mainstream. This lack of integration can limit educational achievement, 
and access to employment, particularly for women and young people. 
Where opportunities are limited, division between people of different 
backgrounds can grow and be exploited by groups or individuals, who seek 
to stoke divisions and fuel hatred. Such isolated communities will be less 
resilient to the threat posed by hateful extremism.

Hateful extremism is focused on behaviours that can incite and amplify hate, 
or persistent hatred. It can equivocate about, and make the moral case for, 
violence; and it can draw on hateful, hostile or supremacist beliefs directed 
at an outgroup who are perceived as a threat to the wellbeing, survival or 
success of an ingroup. Such behaviours can cause, or are likely to cause, harm 
to individuals, communities or wider society.

The city’s work on tackling hateful extremism, preventing radicalisation, 
supporting those most vulnerable and building community resilience is key 
to identifying and co- designing activities and solutions with communities. 
The city’s RADEQUAL campaign is a key example of a campaign specifically 
designed by communities for communities aimed at tackling hateful 
extremism. This campaign has been successful in building partnerships 
with community organisations, raising community awareness around the 
risks associated with hateful extremism and co-designing solutions that 
are led by communities to build resilience and safeguard the most vulnerable. 
All of this work will contribute towards building the right conditions and 
environment for communities to come together to build positive relationships 
and stronger, more united and resilient communities by preventing people 
from engaging in hateful extremism. 

Page 43

Item 7Appendix 1,



22  Building Stronger Communities Together

Hate Crime 
The Greater Manchester Hate Crime plan 2020–23, recognises the importance 
of early intervention and its key priorities are focused on:

	– Keeping people safe

	– Reducing harm and offending

	– Strengthening communities and places.

To do this, Manchester holds two hate crime awareness weeks per year – 
Greater Manchester in February and the national awareness day October. We 
have 40 plus Third-Party Reporting Centres (TPRCs), which are safe spaces for 
people to report a hate incident/crime. Other Voluntary, Community, Faith 
and Community Sector (VCFCS) groups hold awareness events for 
communities of different backgrounds to come together, understand their 
rights, learn how to report hate crimes/incidents and to find support. They 
also promote the message of peace and unity. 

The TPRCs attend training and promoting the offer in their buildings and 
online. Manchester works closely with key partners to campaign, strategize 
and mobilise the plan, ensuring that when hate happens, victims have a 
clear pathway of justice and support. However, tackling hate ‘upstream’ 
is key to preventing hate incidents and crimes from taking place. Therefore, 
it is paramount for Manchester to work closely with our communities to 
monitor tensions and intervene at an early stage by completing direct work 
with the affected communities, with a multiagency approach exploring 
ways to challenging hate. Taking positive action with the offender is one 
way of preventing further offending behaviour, offering a community 
remedy where the victim has some say in the punitive action and 
restorative justice. Often, early intervention produces the most 
positive outcome. Hate crime is underreported, particularly 
among groups and we need to continue to work with 
communities to understand why and work towards 
rectifying this.

Page 44

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  23Page 45

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 46

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  25

Establishing 
our priorities
Throughout March to June 2022, we consulted with 
Manchester’s communities on matters relating to integration 
and cohesion, to understand the things that help us to connect 
and get along with one another. We know that Manchester 
is a diverse city, so to capture views we ran a 12-week online 
consultation. This was promoted through our social media 
channels, teams working in the neighbourhoods and our 
partners across the public, voluntary and community sectors 
so that we could reach as many people as possible. 

Alongside the online survey, we also wanted to have conversations and hear 
from communities about their experiences: what they would like to see more 
of and some of the issues they felt prevented them, or acted as a barrier to 
building relationships where they live. We did this through a series of 23 focus 
groups with communities from across Manchester.

In total, 441 people responded to our online consultation, representing all 32 
wards within the city. 

The demographic of respondents compared with the Manchester Population 
is shown in the table below:

Ethnicity % of Respondents Manchester Population 

Asian/Asian British 9.30% 20.86%

Black/ African/ Caribbean/ 
Black British 

9.98% 11.94%

Middle Eastern and Central/ 
Western Asian British 

1.59% No data available 

Mixed/ Multiple Ethnic Groups 3.63% 5.26% 

Other 2.04% 5.12% 

White/ White British 67.80% 56.82% 

Not disclosed 5.67%  NA

Page 47

Item 7Appendix 1,



26  Building Stronger Communities Together

Gender % of Respondents Manchester Population 

Female 57.4% 50.3%

Male 36.5% 49.7%

Gender Identity  % of Respondents Manchester Population

Same as registered at birth NA 91.7%

Different from registered 
at birth but not specified

NA 0.5%

Non-Binary 0.45% 0.2%

Prefer not to say 5.44% 7.3%

Transgender 0.22% 0.4%

Age % of Respondents Manchester Population 

Under 18 14.1% 23% 

18–25 3.2% 17% 

26–39 15.6% 24% 

40–49 21.1% 12% 

50–64 29.3% 14% 

65+ 12.2% 9% 

Prefer not to say 4.5% 

Page 48

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  27

As well as the online consultation, 23 focus groups were held with communities 
and local partners, as we wanted to hear the stories behind the issues and 
views shared though the online survey.

We also wanted to learn from best practice across the country, so we consulted 
Bradford City Council and the Greater London Authority to understand their 
approach to building community cohesion. We also sought advice and support 
from the national Belong Network. 

The online survey asked Manchester residents about the following things:

	– How well they thought people from different backgrounds got on together 
in their local area 

	– What things were important in making it easier for communities to get along 

	– Where people come together in their community 

	– What activities bring people together 

	– If there were any challenges that prevented people from getting on with 
one another 

	– How relationships could be strengthened in their community 

	– What things build a sense of pride and belonging in communities. 

Page 49

Item 7Appendix 1,



When asked how well people from different backgrounds 
got on together in their local area, you told us:

45%
of respondents felt 

people from di�erent 
backgrounds in their area 
got on well or extremely 

well together.
37%

of respondents felt 
people from di�erent 
backgrounds in their 

area neither got on well 
nor got on poorly.

Respondents aged

over 50 and under 
18 years old 

were more likely to say 
people from di�erent 

backgrounds in their area 
got on well together, 

compared with people 
aged 19-49.

Respondents from 

Asian or 
Asian British 
backgrounds 

were most likely to say 
people from di�erent 

backgrounds in their area 
did not get on well.

When asked to rate how important 
different factors are in making 
it easier for communities to get 
along, you told us:

People living 
in a community 

where they 

feel safe, 
and that is 
doing well 
scored highest.

Closely followed 
by people 

being able to trust 
their local services 
such as the Council, police, 

health providers, 
schools etc to be fair 

and open.

When asked what things are 
important to you and your family? 
you told us:

Respect: 
between all, 

whatever age, faith, 
sexual orientation, 
gender or ethnicity 

scored highest.

Followed by

tackling hate 
and intolerance: 
cutting out the things 

that make us fear 
or get angry with 

one another.

When asked if there are other things that help 
people get on well together, you told us:

37.8% 
said diversity helps 
people get on well, 
eg mixing between 

faiths, ethnicities 
and ages.

31.6% 
of respondents 
felt education, 

communication, sharing 
community information 

and cultural 
understanding are 

important.

25.5%
of respondents felt 
community pride 

and mutual respect 
are important.

20.4% 
of respondents felt Council 

responsibility was important for: 
holding landlords to standards, having 

more youth workers, supporting 
educational groups, treating everyone 

equally, influencing media, tackling 
antisocial behaviour, dealing 

with issues in areas with high 
student populations, 

listening more and investing 
more into communities.

“The make up of our public 
services should reflect our 
communities [as] this 
encourages community 
involvement, trust and 
hopefully aspiration.”

“[Education] from a 
young age about respect 
and it being modelled 
positively in society.”

“Opportunities for people 
to socialise together, in a 
safe place and learn about 
each other’s cultures while 
enriching their own lives.”

“Having a range of community 
development activities and 
workers to support people to get 
involved and feel they belong.”

Parks and 
open spaces, 

schools, places 
of worship and 

online.

When asked where 
communities 
come together 
in your local 
area, you 
told us:

When asked what 
happens in these 
spaces? you 
told us: Litter picking, 

fitness classes, 
voluntary groups, 
parent and toddler 
groups, gardening 
groups, sporting 

activities 
and children’s 

activities.

volunteer

volunteer

28  Building Stronger Communities Together

The key findings – 
what you told us

Online Survey
The findings of the online survey identified the following:

Page 50

Item 7Appendix 1,



When asked how well people from different backgrounds 
got on together in their local area, you told us:

45%
of respondents felt 

people from di�erent 
backgrounds in their area 
got on well or extremely 

well together.
37%

of respondents felt 
people from di�erent 
backgrounds in their 

area neither got on well 
nor got on poorly.

Respondents aged

over 50 and under 
18 years old 

were more likely to say 
people from di�erent 

backgrounds in their area 
got on well together, 

compared with people 
aged 19-49.

Respondents from 

Asian or 
Asian British 
backgrounds 

were most likely to say 
people from di�erent 

backgrounds in their area 
did not get on well.

When asked to rate how important 
different factors are in making 
it easier for communities to get 
along, you told us:

People living 
in a community 

where they 

feel safe, 
and that is 
doing well 
scored highest.

Closely followed 
by people 

being able to trust 
their local services 
such as the Council, police, 

health providers, 
schools etc to be fair 

and open.

When asked what things are 
important to you and your family? 
you told us:

Respect: 
between all, 

whatever age, faith, 
sexual orientation, 
gender or ethnicity 

scored highest.

Followed by

tackling hate 
and intolerance: 
cutting out the things 

that make us fear 
or get angry with 

one another.

When asked if there are other things that help 
people get on well together, you told us:

37.8% 
said diversity helps 
people get on well, 
eg mixing between 

faiths, ethnicities 
and ages.

31.6% 
of respondents 
felt education, 

communication, sharing 
community information 

and cultural 
understanding are 

important.

25.5%
of respondents felt 
community pride 

and mutual respect 
are important.

20.4% 
of respondents felt Council 

responsibility was important for: 
holding landlords to standards, having 

more youth workers, supporting 
educational groups, treating everyone 

equally, influencing media, tackling 
antisocial behaviour, dealing 

with issues in areas with high 
student populations, 

listening more and investing 
more into communities.

“The make up of our public 
services should reflect our 
communities [as] this 
encourages community 
involvement, trust and 
hopefully aspiration.”

“[Education] from a 
young age about respect 
and it being modelled 
positively in society.”

“Opportunities for people 
to socialise together, in a 
safe place and learn about 
each other’s cultures while 
enriching their own lives.”

“Having a range of community 
development activities and 
workers to support people to get 
involved and feel they belong.”

Parks and 
open spaces, 

schools, places 
of worship and 

online.

When asked where 
communities 
come together 
in your local 
area, you 
told us:

When asked what 
happens in these 
spaces? you 
told us: Litter picking, 

fitness classes, 
voluntary groups, 
parent and toddler 
groups, gardening 
groups, sporting 

activities 
and children’s 

activities.

volunteer

volunteer

Our Strategy 2023–2026  29Page 51

Item 7Appendix 1,



When asked if there are any challenges that 
impact getting on with others, you told us:

Antisocial 
behaviour, the cost 
of living, language 

barriers, fly tipping, 
misuse of public 

spaces and feeling 
unsafe.

“Not knowing what 
opportunities to 
socialise are.”

“Opportunities for people 
to socialise together, in a 
safe place and learn about 
each other’s cultures while 
enriching their own lives.”

“There should be initiatives like 
street parties, volunteering, 
bringing people together”.

When asked how relationships 
could be improved in your 
community, you told us:

You want

more 
community 

events.
You could 

reach out to

get to 
know your 

neighbours 
more.

You could 

act in your 
neighbourhood, 
such as by joining local 

clean ups and 
volunteering in your 

community.When asked what things help 
to build a sense of pride and 
belonging to Manchester? 
You told us:

Friendships 
are the most 

important 
thing.

The city’s diverse 
communities, 

family, looking after 
the environment 

where you live and 
quality of life. 

30  Building Stronger Communities Together Page 52

Item 7Appendix 1,



When asked if there are any challenges that 
impact getting on with others, you told us:

Antisocial 
behaviour, the cost 
of living, language 

barriers, fly tipping, 
misuse of public 

spaces and feeling 
unsafe.

“Not knowing what 
opportunities to 
socialise are.”

“Opportunities for people 
to socialise together, in a 
safe place and learn about 
each other’s cultures while 
enriching their own lives.”

“There should be initiatives like 
street parties, volunteering, 
bringing people together”.

When asked how relationships 
could be improved in your 
community, you told us:

You want

more 
community 

events.
You could 

reach out to

get to 
know your 

neighbours 
more.

You could 

act in your 
neighbourhood, 
such as by joining local 

clean ups and 
volunteering in your 

community.When asked what things help 
to build a sense of pride and 
belonging to Manchester? 
You told us:

Friendships 
are the most 

important 
thing.

The city’s diverse 
communities, 

family, looking after 
the environment 

where you live and 
quality of life. 

Our Strategy 2023–2026  31

The Focus Groups
During May to July 2022, we delivered 23 focus groups, attracting 241 people 
from voluntary sector organisations, community groups, residents, and staff 
groups. To make sure we heard the voices of different communities within 
Manchester we engaged with people from all different backgrounds, ages and 
faiths, across different geographical areas.

The sessions took place either face to face or online, and lasted around 90 
minutes, with a facilitator recording feedback. Participants were encouraged 
to speak freely and be open and honest in the discussions.

The focus groups asked participants to think about the following three questions: 

What does a good neighbourhood, where people get on well 
together, look and feel like? You told us the key ingredients are: 

	– Communities coming together at events, activities and through volunteering 

	– Safe neighbourhoods, where people feel confident in letting their 
children play out 

	– Clean neighbourhoods, where people take a sense of pride in where they 
live, and fly tipping and litter are dealt with quickly 

	– Local parks and green spaces that are open to all 

	– Friendly people and neighbours who look out for one another 

	– Respecting one another’s beliefs. 

What things affect how good or nice a neighbourhood is, 
and how well people get on together? You told us: 

	– Feeling unsafe, crime, and drug use in communities 

	– Too few youth activities or groups in your area 

	– When people don’t respect the environment, by fly-tipping and littering 

	– Poor housing standards, particularly in the private rented sector 

	– Racism and Islamophobia 

	– Lack of trust in public services. 

Page 53

Item 7Appendix 1,



32  Building Stronger Communities Together

What can you and others in your community do to help 
strengthen how well you get on with one another, and how 
you might come together to contribute towards improving 
your community? You told us: 

	– You want to get to know and help your neighbours more. 

	– You want to volunteer your time and understand where 
you can find out about volunteering opportunities. 

	– You want to get involved in community events and celebrations. 

	– You want to hold more inter-faith events, celebrating different 
cultures together. 

We also found that some communities in Manchester had specific aspirations 
or challenges within their community.

Young people and youth groups told us that clean, green spaces and parks 
where young people can come together and feel safe, free from antisocial 
behaviour and intimidation, are particularly important. Young people felt 
there are not enough youth activities, groups or spaces in their areas, 
and they didn’t know how to find out about things they could get involved 
in in their area.

“Our youth clubs are so 
good because they give 
us safe spaces when we 
can’t be outside.”

“We see detached youth workers 
on the streets who help us feel 
safe, it’s nice for us to speak 
with adults who we know and 
to catch up with them.”

Mosques and BAME groups told us that stigma, racism, Islamophobia 
and hate crime is experienced within Muslim communities in 
Manchester. Participants felt more connections should be built 
between different faith groups and the community. Similarly, 
concerns with police stop and search and institutional racism 
were also highlighted. 

South Asian women told us that there should be more 
activities for men from South Asian backgrounds to get 
involved in and support conversations around wellbeing 
and mental health. Participants felt there should be 
more education in schools around different faiths and 
backgrounds, to encourage mutual respect and understanding. 
Participants wanted to know how they could influence local 
services and have their say on local issues. 

“Every Muslim is 
not an extremist.”

“People who don’t know 
you make a judgement on 
what you are wearing.”

“She’s not just a 
Muslim women, there 
is more to her identity.”

Page 54

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  33

Older people told us that feeling safe and included, 
both socially and digitally, was important. Participants 
wanted more spaces where people can get together 
and build relationships, and local services that 
encourage people to meet up. Likewise, being 
understanding, accepting and welcoming of people 
from all backgrounds to encourage equality and 
inclusivity when designing events. 

LGBTQ+ communities told us that welcoming, inclusive spaces for everyone 
in the community to come together were important. They also told us that 
understanding and celebrating different cultures to highlight the things we have 
in common and welcoming people from all backgrounds was also important.

“Be able to trust 
and be heard.”

“Tolerance and understanding, 
and respecting each other’s 
differences, as well as each 
other’s similarities.”

Listening to the Experts 
Back in 2020, we launched the Listening to the Experts report, which aimed to 
get beyond the headlines to hear what young people in Manchester want and 
need to stay safe from violent crime and their views on current policy responses. 

Working with excellent youth sector partners across the city, we promised 
the young people involved we’d be true to what they told us. We’re glad they 
didn’t pull their punches about what isn’t working, as well as what they want 
more of. The two central themes of the report were: 

	– Young people feel that too much attention goes on surface-level issues 
that don’t tackle deeper issues, such as racism, a lack of respect for young 
people and a lack of good-quality jobs. 

	– Young people in Manchester do not feel listened to by many professionals 
working in this space. 

A follow-up report by RECLAIM and Collective Discovery, Bridging the Empathy 
Gap explores how to bridge the gap between professionals and young people 
and the obstacles to strengthening listening practice and empathy. 

Page 55

Item 7Appendix 1,

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https://www.reclaim.org.uk/kcyps&data=05%7C01%7Csamiya.butt@manchester.gov.uk%7C1a2d942cfbf84e4e0e9008dab6a5b9a4%7Cb0ce7d5e81cd47fb94f7276c626b7b09%7C0%7C0%7C638023120141864847%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=XeYkEoSNC7c/ckQekcBEMapHsZghTZa88wpwqfVYaIY=&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https://www.reclaim.org.uk/kcyps&data=05%7C01%7Csamiya.butt@manchester.gov.uk%7C1a2d942cfbf84e4e0e9008dab6a5b9a4%7Cb0ce7d5e81cd47fb94f7276c626b7b09%7C0%7C0%7C638023120141864847%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=XeYkEoSNC7c/ckQekcBEMapHsZghTZa88wpwqfVYaIY=&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https://www.reclaim.org.uk/kcyps&data=05%7C01%7Csamiya.butt@manchester.gov.uk%7C1a2d942cfbf84e4e0e9008dab6a5b9a4%7Cb0ce7d5e81cd47fb94f7276c626b7b09%7C0%7C0%7C638023120141864847%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=XeYkEoSNC7c/ckQekcBEMapHsZghTZa88wpwqfVYaIY=&reserved=0


Page 56

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  35

Our priorities for the 
next three years
From listening to the views of residents, we recognise that 
the priorities for the next 12 months need to focus on people 
and how we co-design with our partners and communities 
activities and opportunities that build capacity and deliver 
stronger communities. 

Belonging

ParticipationRelationships

Page 57

Item 7Appendix 1,



36  Building Stronger Communities Together

Relationships 
A little trust goes a long way. That’s why relationships and trust go hand in 
hand with one another. Relationships are not just about mixing with people 
who are like us and those we would normally mix with. They are also and 
importantly about speaking with our neighbours and people who are from 
different backgrounds.

Following through on commitments – doing what you say you are going to 
do, being clear, having frequent communications with communities and 
identifying opportunities to come together and problem-solve – leads to 
greater trust between communities and organisations and/or systems, so 
that no matter what might go wrong, there is a trust that organisations will 
act in the best interest of communities.

	– Choosing to get to know others and being confident and empowered to 
reach out to get to know our neighbours more

	– Talking and listening – reflecting and learning

	– Showing respect for one another

	– Tackling hate and intolerance by coming together, educating one another 
and promoting acceptance – addressing bias, hate and intolerance

	– Building trust in local services such as the Council, police, health providers, 
housing, schools and others to be fair and open

	– Using social media. 

Participation
Participation is about bringing people together to get involved in meaningful 
activities, for a shared purpose and to engage in decisions about things that 
affect their lives. Greater participation and engagement with others builds 
trust between and within communities and between communities and 
institutions. The more trust people feel in others and in the institutions that 
serve them the more likely they are to get involved. Participation can lead to 
greater trust – which can lead to greater participation. It is about enabling 
and supporting communities and services to come together; valuing the 
importance of working together to make a difference and taking ownership 
of the things that matter most to us where we live.

Page 58

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  37

	– Bringing people together through community events and activities 

	– Identifying and creating opportunities for people to get involved to improve 
and influence things happening in their neighbourhood and the city 

	– Bringing different groups and communities together to improve their local area

	– Taking ownership and showing up to get things done

	– Communicating about what is going on and promoting opportunities for 
people to get involved.

Belonging 
Relationships, trust and participation help to bond and bridge within and 
between communities and build social capital. This in turn helps to create a 
sense of belonging for communities. 

Being part of something bigger than just yourself provides a sense of 
belonging and purpose along with a feeling of acceptance and support that 
can help avert loneliness and help to make you feel more connected to those 
around you. 

Belonging is fundamental to our sense of happiness and wellbeing. A sense of 
belonging means that we have respect for the traditions, cultures and diverse 
communities of a particular place while at the same time being willing to 
invest and contribute a shared vision of what that place can become.

Belonging in Manchester is about being included, respected, and welcomed. 
It is a sense of feeling valued and accepted whatever your background.

	– Choosing to make an effort to engage with others

	– Being welcoming of others

	– Creating inclusive and shared places for people to come together 

	– Developing a shared sense of purpose 

	– Sharing experiences 

	– Having a sense of pride in our neighbourhood – keeping it clean and tidy

	– Celebrating the city’s diverse communities and what we have in common.

Page 59

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 60

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  39

Our behaviours
To bring the contents of this strategy alive, we all need 
to play our part, and the way we think and behave towards 
others is a good starting point.

The way we live and how we view and interact with others, especially those 
we do not know or those who do not look like us or think the same things 
we do, is a good starting point. So, to help us to do this, we have used your 
feedback and come up with some basic behaviours and principles:

1.	 Being welcoming to others

2.	 Being open to, and comfortable with, making new connections 
and relationships

3.	 Respecting our differences and valuing what we have in common

4.	 Being willing to listen to others’ views, including those that are not 
the same as our own

5.	 Embracing all, irrespective of age, race, gender, religion or belief, 
disability, or sexual orientation 

6.	 Speaking up against discrimination and intolerance and promoting 
inclusion for all

7.	 Fostering pride and belonging

8.	 Cultivating a reputation for showing up and getting things done 

9.	 Taking ownership by participating, helping others and getting together 
to bring positive changes in Manchester.

Page 61

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 62

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  41

What we are 
going to do
We recognise that this is a new strategy and that social 
cohesion, relationships within and between communities, 
trust, how we interact with one another and building a sense 
of belonging to where we live do not happen or change 
overnight. Understanding social cohesion can be complex and 
nuanced – not one neighbourhood or community is the same. 

Therefore, over the next 12 months, we will identify and work in small pilot 
areas of the city to: 

1.	 Build our understanding about the impact of change in neighbourhoods 
and on our communities

2.	 Test ways of working and co-designing activities with communities 

3.	 Identify what is successful in bringing people together and getting them 
involved in local activities

4.	 Consider how we celebrate what everyone has in common in an inclusive 
way and respect difference

We will identify three small areas in north, central and south Manchester 
to achieve this. An action plan setting out a range of activities that will 
focus on ‘bridging’ and ‘bonding’ activities to build relationships and trust, 
increasing participation and a sense of belonging, will be agreed for these 
three localities. These action plans will be available on the Council’s website.

Measuring the impact and changes achieved by these activities will be 
important and the next section provides further details.

Page 63

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 64

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  43

Measuring 
our impact
Understanding and measuring levels of social cohesion is 
not easy and there is no national framework for doing this. 
Therefore, we will use the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority’s (GMCA) “Policing and Community Safety Survey”, 
which includes the qualitative measures set out below, to 
measure overall social cohesion in Manchester. This is in 
addition to each pilot area also defining its own measures, 
activities and outcomes which reflect the three priorities of 
Relationships, Participation and Belonging in this “Building 
Stronger Communities Together” strategy. 

Support for designing a set of more detailed indicators of social cohesion will be 
sought from the Belong Network, drawing on their work to develop a national 
framework of measurement indicators and recent research and evidence 
gathering they have been carrying out to support place-based approaches to 
measuring social cohesion.

GMCA survey measures
	– How safe do you feel in your local area

	– How safe do you currently feel when out and about anywhere 
in your district, away from your local area?

	– My area is a place where people from different backgrounds 
get on well together (Relationships)

	– My local area is a place where people look out for one another

	– I feel a strong sense of belonging to my local area (Belonging)

	– I have a say in what happens in my local area (Participation)

	– I am proud of my local area.

Page 65

Item 7Appendix 1,



Page 66

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  45

Our governance 
and accountability
The Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy will 
sit under the overarching governance structures of Making 
Manchester Fairer. 

The strategy will form part of the Communities and Power workstream of 
Making Manchester Fairer, reporting into the quarterly Communities and 
Power Steering Group. 

The delivery of the strategy and its action plan will be led by those named in 
the action plan. This is a cross-cutting strategy that will work across Council 
services and neighbourhoods. 

The Communities and Power Steering Group will hold the strategy to 
account, ensuring progress is made against the projects and activities 
outlined in the action plan.

Page 67

Item 7Appendix 1,



46  Building Stronger Communities Together

The Making Manchester 
Fairer Framework

Communities
and power

Early years,
children and
young people

Work and
employment

Poverty, income
and debt

Places, 
transport and 

climate change

Systemic and
structural 

racism and 
discrimination

Prevention 
of ill health and 

preventable 
deaths

Homes and 
housing

Listen to us

Trust us

Employ us

Create and support the 
conditions for social 

connections to develop 
and flourish

Making Manchester Fairer 
Framework

This strategy supports the Communities and Power theme.

Page 68

Item 7Appendix 1,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  47

Our Manchester – 
links to other 
strategies
There are several overarching strategies and plans that sit 
underneath the Our Manchester Strategy and social cohesion 
is foundational to achieving the broader set of outcomes and 
therefore the principles set out in this strategy and its three 
priority themes: Relationships, Participation and Belonging. 

These include the following strategies, and work is taking place with the 
delivery leads for each strategy to make sure that the broader factors and 
prerequisites that determine the conditions for building stronger and cohesive 
communities are included in the appropriate plans for delivery: 

	– Community Safety Strategy 

	– Manchester Housing Strategy Policies and strategies

	– Making Manchester Fairer Action Plan Making Manchester Fairer

	– Making Manchester Fairer Anti-Poverty Strategy 

	– Work and Skills Strategy 

	– Digital Strategy Manchester Digital Strategy 2021–2026

	– Children and Young People’s Plan Children and young people’s plan

	– Age Friendly Strategy Manchester: A Great Place to Grow Older 2017–2020

	– Trauma Informed Strategy – currently being refreshed.

Page 69

Item 7Appendix 1,

https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/6107/community_safety_strategy
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/directory_record/232027/housing_strategy/category/763/homes_and_property
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/info/500288/public_health/8477/making_manchester_fairer
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations_and_surveys/8496/anti-poverty_strategy
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/info/100008/work_jobs_training_and_advice/8454/manchester_work_and_skills_strategy#:~:text=The%20Strategy%20is%20built%20on,and%20Zero%20Carbon%2C%20and%20Connected.
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/info/500002/council_policies_and_strategies/8356/manchester_digital_strategy_2021_%E2%80%93_2026
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/6716/children_and_young_peoples_plan
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/3596/manchester_a_great_place_to_grow_older_2010-2020


Friends of Our 
Manchester Parks

welcome

Knit 
and
natter

Join
us for a 

brew

Babies,
bumps 

and 
beyond

Babies,
bumps 

and 
beyond

Every week Work
Club

Work
Club

Help to 

get back 

to work

Silver
surfers
Silver
surfers

FREE
drop-in 

sessions

ESOL
classes
ESOL
classes

Enrol
NOW

Our Manchester Community Hub

volunteer

Page 70

Item 7Appendix 1,



Building Stronger 
Communities Together
Our strategy 2023-2026

When people come 
together in Manchester, 
good things happen

P
age 71

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



2  Building Stronger Communities Together

Manchester celebrates and understands the 
importance of relationships between individuals, 
families, friends, neighbours and our diverse 
communities. At a time when the world around us can 
feel divided and disconnected, Manchester wants 
more than ever to strengthen its communities and 
social relationships.

Manchester people – whether they’re newly arrived, long-
established or born-and-bred – have the biggest mix of ‘identities’ 
found in any UK city outside the capital. All 90 ethnic groups on the 
last census have a home here. We’re proud of that, but every one of 
those diverse individuals shares another identity: being a Mancunian.

It’s an identity based on what we have in common and how we 
contribute to Manchester. We think this identity helps us to respect 
ourselves, our neighbours and neighbourhoods, and our 
communities. We also think this brings all kinds of benefits we 
want in our city.

However, we can’t take those good things for granted, as national 
and international challenges of the 2020s – from the COVID-19 
upheaval to the impact of the cost-of-living crisis – have shown.

Levels of social cohesion vary in different places. Put simply, it is 
about how well people from different backgrounds meet, mix and 
get along together. It also relates to levels of trust between 
individuals, different groups and communities, as well as the 
institutions and services that serve them.

The work of social cohesion is about developing neighbourhoods, 
workplaces, institutions and social spaces where difference is 
welcomed and celebrated, and where empathy and curiosity about 
people ‘not like me’ are encouraged and embedded. When this 
happens, we can move beyond narratives of ‘us’ and ‘them’ towards 
ideas of kindness, trust, good relations between different groups and 
communities, and a sense of belonging for all.

Building Stronger Communities Together reflects the things that 
people told us were important to them and sets out how we plan to 
strengthen and share the great things that come out of Manchester’s 
shared identity – things that boost communities, community 
relations and social relationships, and that come into play when 
things become difficult.

 We think the best ways to build stronger communities in the city 
are through the ideas, actions and activities that are generated, 
designed and delivered locally. These are not just the responsibility 
of the Council and its partners in voluntary, faith and community 
organisations. They are also the responsibility of each of us – in 
school and college, at work, in business, in communities and in 
neighbourhoods – anywhere and everywhere.

P
age 72

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  3

Based on what matters
To create this plan and decide what to do next, we’ve used a wide set 
of consultations, surveys, conversations and research methods with 
a broad range of individuals and organisations.

Based on that, and led by what matters most to local people, we’ve 
started to develop a first set of pilot activities and actions, which will 
be delivered in neighbourhoods within the north, south and central 
parts of our city.

They will be based on and encourage:

	– Relationships that help us to speak to our neighbours and people 
from different backgrounds

	– Taking part in things and decisions that matter to us and our area 

	– Building a sense of belonging and pride.

The pilot activities will be designed to strengthen connections 
between and within communities in these three places. As part of 
this we will:

	– Build an understanding of the impact of change in these 
neighbourhoods and communities

	– Test different ways to work, and design activities with these 
communities

	– Consider how to celebrate what everyone has in common in ways 
that respect difference and include everyone

	– See, learn and share what works.

We will measure how much this builds relationships and trust, how it 
gets people involved, and how it boosts people’s sense of belonging, 
so we can adapt and spread what works to other areas.

An action plan setting out a range of activities that will focus on 
‘bridging’ and ‘bonding’ activities to build relationships and trust, 
increasing participation and a sense of belonging, will be agreed for 
these pilot localities. These action plans will be available on the 
Council’s website.

P
age 73

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



4  Building Stronger Communities Together

Relationships
Personally: speaking with our neighbours and people 
who are from different backgrounds. Learning to trust 
and be trusted.

For organisations: developing trust by providing equity 
in public services. Gaining trust by doing what we promise, 
giving lots of clear communication, and creating ways to 
come together and problem-solve.

Because: a little trust goes a long way; so no matter what might 
go wrong, communities trust organisations to do the right thing.

How:

	– Choose to get to know others; be confident to reach 
out to neighbours

	– Talk, listen, think and learn with each other 

	– Show respect

	– Tackle hate, intolerance and bias together 
– educate and accept one other

	– Build trust in local services to be fair and open.

Priorities of the pilot
Our consultation and research set priorities for action. The planned 
work with each community will determine local ways of putting 
these priorities into action – and what they mean locally:

Belonging

ParticipationRelationships

P
age 74

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



Our Strategy 2023–2026  5

Participation
Personally: taking ownership of what matters to 
us where we live. Taking part.

For organisations: bringing people together for shared 
aims that affect their lives. Support to act.

Because: working together has value; participation builds trust, 
and the more we trust one another and our services, the more 
involved we get.

How:

	– Through community events and activities

	– Create ways to get involved, improve and influence

	– Bring groups together

	– Turn up and get things done 

	– Communicate what’s going on; 
promote involvement

	– Ensure that our services are 
equitable.

Belonging
Personally: Contributing to the shared idea of what 
your area can become. Respecting traditions, cultures 
and communities around you.

For organisations: bonding communities together and 
building bridges between them.

Because: being part of something bigger gives you purpose, 
fights loneliness and connects you to those around you. 
Belonging is fundamental to happiness and wellbeing.

How:

	– Make the effort to connect with and welcome others

	– Create safe, shared places

	– Develop a shared sense of purpose

	– Share experiences

	– Be proud and keep up to date with 
what’s happening in your 
neighbourhood

	– Celebrate diverse communities and 
what we have in common.

volunteer

volunteer

P
age 75

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



6  Building Stronger Communities Together

Start with your own 
behaviour
Our research and conversations revealed the top ten things 
Manchester people say you can do to show this city at its solid and 
united best – especially with someone who doesn’t look like you, 
or think like you:

1.	 Welcome people who are different to you

2.	 Be open and happy, and make new connections

3.	 Respect your differences

4.	 Value what you have in common

5.	 Listen to the views of others

6.	 Embrace every age group, race, gender, religion or belief, 
disability and sexual orientation

7.	 Speak up against discrimination and intolerance, and promote 
inclusion

8.	 Foster pride and belonging

9.	 Gain a reputation for turning up and getting things done

10.	 Get involved together to bring positive changes to Manchester.

P
age 76

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



P
age 77

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



P
age 78

Item
 7

A
ppendix 2,



 
 

Manchester City Council 
Report for Resolution 

 
Report to:   Executive – 18 October 2023 
 
Subject:   Moston Lane Development Framework (Part A) 
 
Report of:   Strategic Director (Growth and Development)  
 
 
Summary  
 
Manchester City Council is regenerating Moston Lane. This report provides an 
update to Executive outlining the public consultation process that has guided the 
proposed Development Framework. Through this process opportunities have been 
identified to unlock investment that will deliver hundreds of mixed tenure new homes 
that match local demand, alongside the construction of a new public square with 
aspirations for this to be animated by community, health and education 
infrastructure.  
 
The report outlines the rationale and scope of a property acquisition strategy that is 
required to enable the significant economic growth and future resilience of the local 
centre. Approval is sought to implement these private acquisitions as part of the next 
phase of delivering the regeneration programme.  
 
An update is also provided on the investment to spearhead physical and 
environmental interventions into Moston Lane using Shared Prosperity (SPF) 
monies, and the integration of this investment into the wider regeneration plans. 
 
Recommendations  
 
The Executive is recommended to: 
  
(1) Note the outcome of the public consultation on the Moston Lane Development 

Framework, as set out in the Consultation Report at Appendix 2. 
 
(2) Approve the Moston Lane Development Framework (Appendix 1) and request 

that the Planning and Highways Committee take the Development Framework 
into account as a material consideration when considering planning 
applications in the Moston Lane area.  

 
(3) Note the progress on the Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) projects. 
 
(4) Approve the acquisition strategy as outlined in Part B of this report and 

delegate authority to the Director of Development in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Housing and Development to conclude negotiations and 
acquire interests required to deliver the Moston Lane Development Framework. 

 
(5) Authorise the City Solicitor to do all things necessary or incidental to implement 

the above. 

Page 79

Item 8



 
 

 
 
Wards Affected: Moston 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this 
report on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city 
The Moston Lane Development Framework sets out a range of interventions, including 
the construction of new homes, improvements to active travel, and investment in 
public realm and green spaces. These can each contribute towards the city’s target 
zero carbon target.  
 
Where selective demolition is required, materials will be recovered in line with good 
construction practice. In the case of new homes, the Council will ensure that those 
delivered on its land are sustainable, and work with third party landowners to promote 
zero carbon developments across other sites. Public realm and green space 
improvements will be designed and procured with the aim of reducing carbon impacts 
both during construction and the operational life of those spaces. 
 

 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion - the impact of the issues addressed in this report 
in meeting our Public Sector Equality Duty and broader equality commitments 
 
Many of the city’s district centres contain significant levels of deprivation, with those 
residents often facing additional health inequalities. Creating and sustaining safe, 
vibrant district centres that provide new jobs, homes and opportunities therefore 
supports the Council’s broader promotion of equality and diversity. 
 
In addition, as specific projects and interventions are developed and delivered an 
Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken by the relevant officer/service, as 
required. 
 

 
Our Manchester Strategy outcomes Contribution to the strategy 
A thriving and sustainable city: 
supporting a diverse and distinctive 
economy that creates jobs and 
opportunities 

The diversification of the centre will 
expand the retail offer through the 
delivery of a public square and 
associated development, providing an 
enhanced offer for the community and 
creating employment opportunities.  

A highly skilled city: world class and 
home-grown talent sustaining the city’s 
economic success 

The proposed investment will result in 
an expanded retail offer, providing 
opportunity for the residents to gain 
employment. Development brought 
forward by the Council will include 
social value outputs in line with the 
North Manchester Social Value 
Framework.  

A progressive and equitable city: 
making a positive contribution by 

Any contractual capital works to deliver 
the regeneration of the district centre 
will incorporate social value outputs as 

Page 80

Item 8



 
 

unlocking the potential of our 
communities 

part of the procurement and evaluation. 
This will include a commitment to local 
employment strategies. The provision of 
high-quality affordable homes is vital to 
support a growing population. A range 
of tenures would ensure all housing 
needs are catered for, including 
affordable tenures in line with local 
housing needs. 

A liveable and low carbon city: a 
destination of choice to live, visit, work 

All works will be undertaken in line with 
sustainability principles to meet wider 
MCC targets. A key component will be 
to activate the district centre at evenings 
and weekends to ensure that it 
becomes a destination for local 
residents and visitors. 

A connected city: world class 
infrastructure and connectivity to drive 
growth 

The centre is well-connected in terms of 
public transport via the tram and bus 
routes. There are also bus services 
connecting the centre to the 
neighbouring areas. By linking public 
realm improvements on key gateway 
locations to the wider active travel 
network, residents will be able to access 
the district centre and beyond by 
walking, cycling and other active travel 
means. 

 
Full details are in the body of the report, along with any implications for  
 

• Equal Opportunities Policy  
• Risk Management  
• Legal Considerations  

 
Financial Consequences – Revenue  
 
Any revenue property holding costs will be met from existing budgets.  
 
Financial Consequences – Capital  
 
The financial implications of the land acquisition strategy are set out in the report on 
Part B of this report. None directly from this report.  
 
Contact Officers:  
 
Name: David Lynch  
Position: Director of Development  
E-mail: David.lynch@manchester.gov.uk  
 
  

Page 81

Item 8



 
 

Name: David Lord  
Position: Head of Development  
E-mail: David.lord@manchester.gov.uk  
 
Name: Richard Humphreys 
Position: Strategic Lead Development – North 
E-mail: richard.humphreys@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Name: James Collier 
Position: District Centres Programme Manager 
E-mail: james.collier@manchester.gov.uk 
 
Background documents (available for public inspection): None 
  

Page 82

Item 8



 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report provides an overview of the recent public consultation and now 

seeks approval for the draft Development Framework for Moston Lane at 
Appendix 1.  

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 Moston Lane is a local centre within the ward of Moston. It is an important 

local centre for shopping and amenities for the local community, which 
numbers approximately 7,500 households. 

 
2.2 Moston Lane local centre boasts a number of attractive heritage buildings, a 

range of local/independent shops and amenities (including a post office, 
butchers, bank and churches) employing circa 950 residents1 and three small 
pocket parks. In addition to employment opportunities in the City Centre and 
via the M60, local opportunities exist within Tulketh Industrial Estate, North 
Manchester General Hospital and Central Park. 

 
2.3 The experience of visiting the centre is currently undermined by the volume of 

traffic and limited opportunities for meeting and spending time with friends and 
family. Parts of the centre are dominated by areas of informal car parking 
taking place on Council-owned sites cleared for potential future development. 
In addition, it also suffers from poor linkages and few cycle routes, meaning 
many visitors travel by car rather than walking or cycling. The centre is 
surrounded by attractive green spaces including Boggart Hole Clough, 
Moston Vale, Broadhurst Fields and Broadhurst Clough Local Nature 
Reserve, but poor signage of pedestrian routes undermines connections 
between the local centre and its surrounding assets and in some cases create 
opportunities for anti-social behaviour.  

 
2.4 There are a number of vacant and underutilised sites which hold the potential 

to increase and diversify housing choice in the area, responding to strong 
demand due to the relative affordability of homes in this area. In addition to 
the framework area there are opportunities in the surrounding locality suitable 
for mixed tenure residential development to assist in the delivery of the 
Council’s Housing Strategy. One such example is the Winston Road and 
Hodge Street site in the Moston Lane area, which forms part of Project 500. 
This disposal secured Executive approval in November 2022 to deliver 19 
affordable homes.  

 
2.5 It should be noted that land receipts received from nearby development 

activity have been ringfenced to provide working capital for the regeneration 
activities outlined in this report. 

 
 
 
 

 
1 Business Register Employment Survey, 2020 

Page 83

Item 8



 
 

3.0 Development Framework details   
 
3.1 The Moston Lane Development Framework sets out the vision for Moston 

Lane as a “vibrant centre where families, community and culture mix along 
rejuvenated streets and new community-focused spaces”.  

 
3.2 Key interventions are identified within the Framework which seek to upgrade 

and improve the wider environment whilst creating new equitable public 
spaces. Through careful coordination and placemaking it is envisaged that 
these spaces are animated and supported by adjacent uses that match the 
needs of local people, whether that be specific housing needs, space for local 
businesses to grow or health and education infrastructure. 

 
3.3 The development framework will achieve this through building on the area’s 

strengths and identifying investment and development opportunities that will 
guide the regeneration of Moston Lane for the next 10+ years.  

 
3.4 The strategy for change is centred around eight objectives that are designed 
 to guide the future regeneration of Moston Lane, these are:  
 

• Creating a new local centre destination for Moston. A new place that 
offers space for the community, residents and local businesses to come 
together.  

• To provide more opportunities for visitors to spend longer together in 
Moston Lane in attractive new spaces which can support a vibrant 
programme of events.  

• To make more of green and built assets.  
• To support Moston to be an attractive, safe and vibrant neighbourhood. 
• Improved and safer streets that provide walking and cycling opportunities 

for all. 
• To enhance the choice and diversity of quality affordable and market 

homes and improve the quality and management of existing stock. 
• Provide new, sustainable homes that integrate with existing streets. 
• Local businesses continue to prosper, and new retail and commercial 

units allow for growth. 
 
3.5 These objectives have been translated into seven key physical opportunities 

for change, which work in tandem with the proposed non-physical 
interventions to create a more successful Moston Lane local centre. These 
include:   

 
• Establishing a stronger local centre with the creation of a new community 

focused space; 
• Supporting the delivery of new homes; 
• Improving the quality and management of existing private rented stock; 
• Enhancing the quality of the public realm along Moston Lane; 
• Supporting more sustainable movement around the local centre and to 

surrounding green spaces;  

Page 84

Item 8



 
 

• Enhancing existing spaces to offer improved functions for the local 
community; and  

• Rationalising car parking and improving the provision of parking within the 
centre. 

 
4.0 Public Consultation 
 
4.1 An extensive process of consultation and engagement has been undertaken 

in order to produce the Moston Lane Development Framework. A detailed 
report on this consultation, setting out in detail who was consulted, how this 
was done, and the feedback from residents and businesses is provided at 
Appendix 2. However, to summarise:  

 
• the headline proposals in the draft Moston Lane Development Framework 

were positively received. In many cases, respondents raised legitimate 
questions about how the proposals would be delivered and/or managed 
over the long-term (e.g. how the new square would be looked after, or 
what tenure the new homes would be), and such questions will be 
considered as and when the individual projects come forward. 

 
• The draft Framework document has been, where possible, amended to 

reflect some of the feedback received, for example to address the Moston 
Lane ‘retail offer’ and to respond to questions about school and health 
provision.  
 

• Further consultation on specific projects will be undertaken on a case by 
case basis. 
 

• The wider environmental, liveability and community cohesion issues 
identified during the consultation are being assessed and addressed, in 
consultation with the Neighbourhoods team for the area, and partners 
such as GMP.  

 
5.0 Proposed framework amendments following consultation 
 
 Greenspaces 
 
5.1 Engagement through online and in-person consultation has been used to 

ensure the proposals for the pocket parks Peace Gardens, St Dunstan’s 
Green and the front garden of Simpson Memorial Hall meet the aspirations 
and concerns of the community. The design development of these spaces will 
take account of comments received during the consultation to include better 
visibility, improved perception of safety, more colour and greater selection of 
types of plants. Further engagement with the community will be undertaken as 
the design develops, including with the Moston Matters community group.  

 
 Moston Lane Shops 
 
5.2 A large number of respondents to the consultation commented negatively on 

the shops along Moston Lane, noting a large number of hair and beauty 

Page 85

Item 8



 
 

salons, barbers, convenience stores and off licences, but a lack of recognised 
high street brands or shops selling clothing, footwear and similar ‘comparison’ 
goods. Similarly, places to eat and drink were in short supply, it was said, 
other than takeaways. However, many of these shops are established 
businesses operated by independent retailers and they evidently respond to 
local demand. The relatively low vacancy rate when compared with other high 
streets, indicates a level of sustainability for shops of this type.  

 
5.3 The Development Framework seeks to promote the diversification of the retail 

offer and a broadening of its appeal by accommodating larger retails units in 
the ground floor of new developments that are located around the perimeter of 
the public square. This type of unit is anticipated to be of interest to larger 
retailers or food and beverage operators, complimentary to the existing offer 
rather than in direct competition with it.  

 
5.4 In addition, existing businesses can be supported to grow in the future and/or 

improve their existing commercial performance. Officers are speaking with the 
Business Growth Hub to identify a potential package of business support 
measures. This could include advice and guidance around investment, 
funding and strategy or specific training on certain aspects of business or 
management.  

 
 Public square 
 
5.5 A majority of the respondents were in favour of the public square. As such we 

have now identified the broad location of the square on Moston Lane within 
the Development Framework. The exact location will be developed as the 
design work is more progressed, with additional consultation proposed in 
future to ensure it continues to meet resident aspirations.  

 
 Social infrastructure 
 
5.6 Whilst the majority of respondents were in favour of new housing, concerns 

were raised on the potential increased pressure on existing education and 
health infrastructure. The Framework now considers these aspects with 
options to explore, in consultation with the NHS and health partners, how 
healthcare and educational facilities could be considered as sites come 
forward for development. Specifically, with the delivery of a new square along 
Moston Lane, there is an opportunity to explore how health and wellbeing 
uses could integrate into the ground floors of the surrounding properties. 

 
 Affordable Housing 
 
5.7 The majority of respondents were in support of the delivery of additional 

homes in Moston Lane, in line with the draft framework proposals. This is 
unsurprising given Moston has one of the highest levels of rental inflation in 
the city, driven by high demand for housing with limited availability (fewer than 
1% of homes remain empty for over 6 months).  

 

Page 86

Item 8



 
 

5.8 Utilising available land to deliver well insulated housing with good amenity 
spaces for families will help to provide better housing choice for local people 
whilst also attracting new residents. In support of this the Council will use its 
land holdings strategically to deliver high quality homes and seek to deliver 
affordable homes in accordance with the Housing Strategy. 

 
6.0 Acquisition Strategy 
 
6.1 The Council does not own all the land within the Development Framework 

area, and consequently acquisition of land interests will be required to deliver 
the framework vision.  

 
6.2 The Development Framework proposes limited clearance of existing 

properties which front on to Moston Lane, in order to create the public square. 
The first phase of acquisitions is discussed further in Part B of this report. 
These will be funded through the capital receipt obtained from the historic 
disposal of land in Moston to Redrow. 

 
7.0 Shared Prosperity Fund 
 
7.1 Whilst the Development Framework sets out the long-term vision for Moston 

Lane and interventions that will take place over a number of years, 
complimentary investment is already being made into the area through the 
Government’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF), which has replaced the 
European Structural Investment Funds (ESIF). Manchester’s full allocation will 
eventually extend to more than £5m, and a proportion of this funding is being 
used in Moston Lane to: 

 
• Enhance the three green spaces at the Peace Gardens, Moston Green 

and at the Simpson Memorial Hall; 
• Implement alley gating to the rear of Moston Lane, and implement a 

commercial waste project to reduce littering and fly-tipping; 
• Amend parking arrangements on streets adjoining Moston Lane to 

improve road safety and reduce fly-parking; 
• Make improvements to the Simpson Memorial Hall, a key hub for the local 

community.  
  
7.2 These interventions will ensure that residents see tangible improvements in 

Moston Lane over the short-term, in advance of the delivery of the more 
significant projects set out in the Development Framework.  

 
8.0 Conclusions  
 
8.1 The proposed interventions have secured community-wide support and will 

guide the regeneration of Moston Lane for the next 10+ years. The proposals 
have been carefully considered to ensure a balanced approach to Moston 
Lane, where possible minimising negative impacts and concentrating on a 
deliverable regeneration proposition. Whilst the high street remains active with 
few voids, there is a need to bring forward new development that better meets 

Page 87

Item 8



 
 

community aspirations and unlocks opportunities for economic growth and 
homes. 
 

9.0 Contributing to the Our Manchester Strategy  
 
(a) A thriving and sustainable city  
The diversification of the centre will provide for new retail to expand the local 
offer which will provide employment opportunities for small to medium sized 
businesses to locate in Moston, with associated opportunities for the local 
community. The provision of additional services will increase the local offer 
available to the community, attracting a fuller cross section of the community.  
 
(b) A Highly Skilled City  

 
During future construction phases, there will be employment opportunities 
available on site and a social value policy will be sought. The provision of 
sustainable new homes within the neighbourhood centre would support the 
growing population.  

 
(c) A progressive and equitable city  

 
Any contractual capital works resultant from the regeneration of the 
neighbourhood centre will include significant social value outputs as part of 
the procurement and evaluation. This will include a commitment to local 
employment strategies. The provision of high-quality affordable homes is vital 
to support a growing population. A range of tenures would ensure that the 
delivery of new housing will be in line with local housing needs.  

 
(d) A liveable and low carbon city  

  
Any future development will be undertaken in line with sustainability principles 
to meet wider Council targets.  

 
(e) A connected city  

 
The centre is well-connected in terms of public transport via the tram and bus 
routes. There are also bus services connecting the centre to the neighbouring 
areas. By linking public realm improvements on key gateway locations to the 
wider active travel network, residents will be able to access the district centre 
and beyond by walking, cycling and other active travel means. 
 

10.0 Key Policies and Considerations  
 

(a) Equal Opportunities  
 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been produced to assess impact on 
protected characteristics. Ongoing reviews will take place as the interventions 
and projects set out in the Framework are considered for implementation. 

 
(b) Risk Management  

Page 88

Item 8



 
 

 
 Not applicable.  
 

(c) Legal Considerations 
If approved by the Executive, the Moston Lane Development Framework will 
not form part of the Council’s Development Plan but would be a material 
consideration when development control decisions are made. 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Moston Lane Development Framework 
 
Appendix 2 – Moston Lane Neighbourhood Development Framework: report from the 

public consultation in June/July 2023 

Page 89

Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



pg. 1
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Moston Lane 
Development Framework
Manchester City Council 

Final Draft
October 2023

P
age 91

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 2
Moston Lane Development Framework 

P
age 92

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



CONTENTS

1.	 Executive summary� pg.  1

2.	 Introduction� pg.  4

3.	 Setting� pg.  6

4.	 Spatial review� pg.  8

5.	 SWOT analysis� pg.  10

6.	 Framework principles� pg.  13

7.	 Vision and objectives� pg.  21

8.	 Development framework� pg.  23

9.	 Development opportunity sites� pg.  39

10.	 Consultation				      pg.  46

11.	 Wider issues raised in the  
	 public consultation                                

12.	 Action plan                                                pg. 51

pg. 48

pg. 3
Moston Lane Development Framework 

P
age 93

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 4
Moston Lane Development Framework 

1. Executive summary

P
age 94

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 1
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Introduction
This document sets out a vision-led framework 
for the regeneration of Moston Lane, on behalf 
of Manchester City Council. It identifies potential 
interventions and areas of focus to help secure and 
promote the future growth and sustainability of 
Moston Lane over the next 10+ years.  

Context 
Within Greater Manchester, Moston Lane is a local 
centre, within the ward of Moston and is situated 
approximately 5km north east of Manchester City 
Centre (accessible by bus, train and Metrolink) 
and 2km south of the M60 ( Junctions 20 and 21).   
Moston Lane, or known locally as ‘the Lane’, is an 
important local centre for shopping and amenities 
for the local community. For the purposes of this 
document, we will refer to ‘the Lane’ as Moston 
local centre.

Moston local centre boasts a number of 
attractive and heritage buildings, a range of local/
independent shops and amenities (including a post 
office, butchers, bank and churches) and three 
small pocket parks.  In addition to employment 
opportunities in the City Centre and via the M60, 
local opportunities exist within Tulketh Industrial 
Estate and North Manchester General Hospital. 

The experience of visiting the centre is currently 
undermined by the volume of traffic and limited 
opportunities for meeting and spending time 
with friends and family. Parts of the centre are 
dominated by areas of informal car parking 

taking place on sites cleared for potential future 
development. In addition, it also suffers from poor 
linkages and few cycle routes mean many visitors 
travel by car rather than walking or cycling.  The 
centre is surrounded by attractive green spaces 
including Boggart Hole Clough, Moston Vale, 
Broadhurst Fields and Broadhurst Clough Local 
Nature Reserve, but poor signage and pedestrian 
routes undermine connections between the 
local centre and its surrounding assets, and in 
some cases create opportunities for anti-social 
behaviour.

There are a number of vacant and underutilised 
sites which hold the potential to increase and 
diversify housing choice in the area, responding 
to strong demand due to the relative affordability 
of homes in the area. There is scope to offer more 
modern affordable family homes as well as a need 
to ensure better management of privately rented 
homes. 

Moston Matters is a strong community pride 
campaign, which is making good progress in 
promoting the centre and the opportunities on 
offer.

P
age 95

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 2
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Our Vision Objectives

‘Moston Lane is a 
vibrant centre where 
families, community 

and culture mix along 
rejuvenated streets 

and new community-
focused spaces.’

1.	 Creating a new local centre destination 
for Moston. A new place that offers space 
for the community, residents and local 
businesses to come together. 

2.	 To provide more opportunities for visitors 
to spend longer together in Moston Lane in 
attractive new spaces which can support a 
vibrant programme of events.

3.	  To make more of green and built assets.

4.	 To support Moston to be an attractive, safe 
and vibrant neighbourhood. 

5.	 Improved and safer streets that provide 
walking and cycling opportunities for all. 

6.	 To enhance the choice and diversity of 
quality affordable and market homes, and 
improve the quality and management of 
existing stock.

7.	 Provide new, sustainable homes that 
integrate with existing streets.

8.	 Local businesses continue to prosper and 
new retail and commercial units allow for 
growth.

Moston Lane vision collage

P
age 96

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 3
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Strategy for change
The draft framework sets out the key 
physical opportunities for change in 
the form of 7 projects that will help 
achieve the objectives and realise the 
vision for Moston. These are:

1.	 Establishing a stronger local 
centre with the creation of a new 
community focused space; 

2.	 Supporting the delivery of new 
homes;

3.	 Improving the quality and 
management of existing private 
rented stock;

4.	 Enhancing the quality of the 
public realm along Moston Lane;

5.	 Supporting more sustainable 
movement around the local 
centre and to surrounding green 
spaces;

6.	 Enhancing existing spaces to 
offer improved functions for the 
local community; and

7.	 Rationalising car parking and 
improving the provision of 
parking within the centre. 

Figure 1: Development framework for Moston Lane

P
age 97

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 4
Moston Lane Development Framework 

2. Introduction

Document purpose and status

This document sets out a vision-led framework for the 
regeneration of Moston Lane, on behalf of Manchester 
City Council. It sets out potential interventions and areas 
of focus to help secure and promote the future growth and 
sustainability of Moston over the next 10 years plus.  

The document is supported by a review of Moston Lane’s 
retail, commercial and residential requirements, and sets 
out physical interventions that look to address issues around 
physical appearance, environment, housing offer, street 
quality and place promotion. 

The document is not intended to present a detailed or 
fully resolved regeneration strategy or delivery strategy. 
It presents initial analysis, concepts and propositions. 
The framework is intended to provide the basis for future 
opportunities for investment, growth and delivery from both 
the public and private sectors.

The feedback and recommendations received through 
stakeholder and community engagement has informed and 
shaped the final framework document. 

Collection of photographs illustrating Moston as it is today

P
age 98

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 5
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Neighbourhood study 
area

The Development Framework 
focuses on the Moston Lane corridor 
(shown adjacent as dark red) as 
well as a broader catchment area 
(defined by the red line boundary) 
that includes a number of the 
surrounding residential areas, local 
amenities and streets. 

Moston Lane is the economic and 
retail heart of the neighbourhood 
with a variety of community and 
convenience retail offers.

The study area is defined to the 
north by Boggart Hole Clough, to the 
east by Moston Fields Primary School 
and Croft Hill Road; to the south by 
Bluestone Road / Lily Lane and to 
the west by Ashley Lane and Clough 
Road. 

Figure 2: Framework study boundary & Moston Lane corridor (red shading)

P
age 99

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 6
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Wider setting & context

Moston Lane is situated approximately 5km north 
east of Manchester City Centre. It is bordered by 
Harpurhey to the west, Charlestown to the north 
and Newton Heath to the south. To the east is the 
larger town of Oldham, approximately 5 miles from 
Moston local centre. 

It is also approximately 900m east of Harpurhey 
district centre, which offers a range of local 
convenience retail as well as an ASDA superstore 
and other national brands, the Manchester Youth 
Zone and healthcare facilities.

The local centre is surrounded by attractive, large 
open green spaces including Boggart Hole Clough, 
Moston Vale, Broadhurst Fields and Broadhurst 
Clough Local Nature Reserve. 

The area is well connected via the following modes 
of transport:

•	 Bus - 30 minutes to City Centre 
with 10 buses routing along 
Moston Lane in both directions;  

•	 Metrolink and Moston train 
station - are a 25 minute and 30 
minute walk respectively; 

•	 Car - 2km south of the M60 close 
to J20 and J21. Manchester City 
Centre is within a 15 minute drive; 

•	 North Manchester General 
Hospital - is 2km north and can 
be reached within a 10 minute 
drive;  

•	 Moston Lane accommodates 
- churches, social clubs and 
healthcare facilities; and 

•	 Four large employment/
industrial sites - within 3km of 
the centre. 

3. Setting

P
age 100

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 7
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Figure 3: Moston Lane within its wider context

P
age 101

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 8
Moston Lane Development Framework 

4. Spatial review

Place constraints
Moston experiences various constraints and 
challenges that are negatively impacting upon the 
sense of place, or which prevent it from being able 
to make the most of its inherent qualities. The plan 
overleaf (Figure 4) identifies some of those with 
most impact:

1.	 Vacant land and alleyways - immediately 
north and south of Moston Lane are areas 
of under utilised pockets of cleared land and 
poorly maintained rear ginnels /alleyways. 
 
Alleyways and ginnels interface with the rear 
of retail units both north and south of Moston 
Lane. These environments are low quality due 
to lack of overlooking frontage, fly tipping and 
waste management issues. 

The impact of street layout, vacant sites and 
poorly maintained environments encourages 
crime and anti-social behaviour in areas such 
as Birchenall Street, Arran Street, Albine 
Street, Pym Street and Cole Street.

2.	 Streetscape - Moston Lane corridor is a 
place dominated by road vehicles, with 
footways narrowed in areas to accommodate 
a wide vehicle carriageway and car parking. 
The  environmental and visual quality of 
this thoroughfare / route is disjointed and 
deteriorating.  
 
The quality and consistency of shop 
frontage signage and overall condition 
varies significantly, with the vast majority in 
poor condition. Combined, these create a 

conflicting experience along the street which 
does not encourage dwell time or a positive 
pedestrian experience.

3.	 Sense of place - an absent sense of arrival, 
with no clearly defined centre, means that 
Moston Lane functions as a place to travel 
through, and not as a place to spend time. 

4.	 Heritage - the heritage of the place is 
visible through some of its historic buildings 
but these sit as independent objects, 
disconnected from each other due to the 
car dominated, low quality public realm and 
retail frontage. These assets could be better 
celebrated, to help create a strong sense of 
character for Moston, through enhanced and 
refined street, branding / signage and public 
realm interventions. 

‘Frontage’......what this means

This refers to a part of a 

building wall which faces a 

public place such as a street or 

a public space. It is what is read 

as the front of the building.

Images above show the impact of 1. vacant alleyways 2. poor quality streetscape 
3. poor quality arrival experiences and 4. some of the area’s heritage assets.

1 2 3 4

P
age 102

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 9
Moston Lane Development Framework 

5.	 Car parking - the provision of car 
parking across Moston local centre is 
uncoordinated and there is a lack of 
formal parking.  Currently, cleared sites 
for future residential development to 
the south of Moston Lane are being used 
for car parking and are large, poorly laid 
out and by night they are less desirable 
parking places. A reluctance for residents 
to use these spaces, for fear of crime 
or vandalism, then puts greater parking 
demands on local residential streets, 
creating tensions and issues where 
driveways are obstructed and access to 
ginnels/alleyways are restricted for refuse 
collection/servicing. A parking strategy for 
the area would coordinate and manage car 
parking.

6.	 Connections to green spaces - although 
on the doorstep of Moston Lane, Boggart 
Hole Clough, Moston Vale and Broadhurst 
Park feel disconnected because of the 
quality of the links to them. This is due 
to a lack of signage / wayfinding, poor 
quality pedestrian routes and lack of cycle 
connections.

Figure 4: Physical issues and constraints

P
age 103

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 10
Moston Lane Development Framework 

5. SWOT analysis

Strengths
•	 Vibrant centre - benefits from having smaller units which 

are easier to attract local occupiers;

•	 Number of attractive buildings including Grade II St 
Dunstan, former Sunday School, former Ben Brierley 
Pub, Blue Bell Hotel, Simpson Memorial and Moston 
Lane Community School;

•	 Good mix of local/community assets including health, 
education and services including bank and Post Office;

•	 Close to the Market, Asda and Youth Zone in Harpurhey;

•	 Engaged community including numerous groups, such as 
Moston Matters, a lot of people have lived in the area for 
a long time and are very proud of Moston;

•	 A diversifying community with a growing community of 
African and European heritage;

•	 Good mix of housing - new investment in quality homes 
for sale, more affordable terraces and larger older semi-
detached villas, as well as older persons accommodation;

•	 Surrounded by lots of green spaces - Boggart Hole 
Clough, Moston Vale, Broadhurst Park and St Joseph’s 
Cemetery as well as pocket parks on Moston Lane;

•	 Benefits from frequent bus services as well as being 
close to strategic cycle network and Metrolink services;

•	 Links to M60 and City Centre and North Manchester 
General Hospital;

•	 Good provision of short stay parking for local businesses 
on Moston Lane; and

•	 Moston Matters campaign is continuing to raise pride 
in the area - one of the most recent current campaigns 
showcased why people love Moston.

Weaknesses
•	 Levels of deprivation for some of the community, with 

high levels of unemployment and low skills levels;

•	 Variable quality and poor management of some of the 
terrace homes;

•	 The neighbourhood lacks a defined centre where the 
community can come together for special occasions, but 
which also functions successfully on a day to day basis;

•	 Anti-social behaviour and crime in certain areas impacts 
upon the image of the area, creating fear for some 
residents, damaging external perceptions of place, and 
limits use of local assets such as Moston Vale;

•	 Poor interfaces between buildings with their layout 
exposing rear of properties, creating  poorly maintained 
and exposed areas that encourages ASB;

•	 Quality of the experience walking along Moston Lane - 
feels dominated by traffic with few places to dwell and 
businesses to spill out. The environment is hard, with 
limited street planting, seating, signage, lighting and 
street greening;

•	 Fly tipping and lack of maintenance gives off an image of 
neglect - this is amplified by the number of vacant sites;

•	 Limited cycleways to support cycling within the centre 
and to encourage use of wider cycling network; and

•	 Indication of parking pressure on residential streets 
leading to parking in inappropriate locations.

P
age 104

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 11
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Opportunities
•	 Further enhance the housing offer, especially affordable housing;

•	 Create a people-focused ‘Moston Lane Local Centre’ that 
creates a comfortable, welcoming and enjoyable environment for 
businesses, visitors and residents to enjoy;

•	 Create more opportunities to attract and capture the potential 
spending power of households within and around the area;

•	 Open up, celebrate and respond to the area’s historical and 
characterful buildings;

•	 Establish a central destination for Moston Lane - create a centre/
hub/square that can better serve the needs of the neighbourhood;

•	 Enhance the branding of the local centre through more consistent 
frontages/signage and wayfinding;

•	 Better maintenance of open space, and improve the interfaces 
between buildings and public realm / streets; 

•	 Create a hierarchy of streets to support active travel - including 
cycling and walking linked to assets such as Boggart Hole Clough;

•	 Improve cycle parking facilities, for short and longer stay parking;

•	 Improve the quality of parking provision, alongside public realm 
enhancements;

•	 Better articulate what Moston Lane has to offer, linked to Moston 
Matters campaign;

•	 Create conditions to support the private sector to improve the 
quality of retail units, both in terms of appearance and occupier 
profile; and

•	 Support more events (especially food and beverage focused 
events) to draw more people to visit the centre and to encourage 
more cafes and restaurants to open up - perhaps testing pop up/
temporary events initially. 

Threats
•	 Condition of some of the homes and management of 

properties in private landlord ownership;

•	 Perceptions of crime and anti-social behaviour;

•	 Increased demand on local service provision, particularly 
in an area of high deprivation;

•	 Inflation makes lives even harder for the most deprived 
in the area; and

•	 Need to deliver positive change in a sympathetic manner, 
to respect existing communities and improve community 
cohesion.P

age 105

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 12
Moston Lane Development Framework 

S T R A T E G Y  F O R  C H A N G E

P
age 106

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 13
Moston Lane Development Framework 

The strategy for change must seek to establish a 
stronger, better functioning local centre which 
supports the local community, retailers and 
encourages footfall and dwell time and consider 
the following:

•	 Supporting the local businesses within the 
centre - a total of 950 people are employed 
within the Moston Lane area, predominantly 
in the Wholesale and Retail Trade sector (300 
employees/32%);1 

•	 Takeaways and food/supermarket occupiers 
collectively occupy almost half of the units 
along Moston Lane, including a range of 
ethnic focused retailers. Working to enhance 
local retail provision as well as introducing 
opportunities for a greater variety of food and 
beverage uses into the area;  

•	 Many local uses are accommodated within 
small terraced units, which can be more 
easily occupied by independents, rather 
than national retailers, who are not currently 
considering comparative centres of the scale 
of Moston. The strategy will look to support 
independents and start-up businesses;

6. Framework principles

Introduction

There are several opportunities across the 
neighbourhood to overcome the physical 
constraints and to guide the development 
framework for Moston local centre. 

The following section sets out key place making 
principles that will help to create a more inclusive, 
enjoyable and high quality local centre.

It then illustrates the vision for Moston local centre 
and the Development Framework. 

Development Principle - Moston 
Lane corridor

Moston local centre is vibrant, characterised by 
small, local retail businesses and with high levels 
of pedestrian activity. It is home to a large number 
of different units, with few vacancies recorded. 
However, the quality of the environment, poor 
pedestrian spaces, traffic dominance, and a lack of 
civic space hamper the neighbourhoods ability to 
maximise economic activity. 

The population of Moston is diversifying which has 
also been reflected in the retail provision, which 
is adjusting to meet the needs of the changing 
population. Whilst a small retail centre, Moston 
local centre accommodates a post office and 
Lloyd’s bank, a positive indication of the vibrancy 
of the centre. 

Existing shop frontages along Moston Lane 1Business Register Employment Survey, 2020’

P
age 107

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 14
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Existing Condition

Harnessing the Opportunity 

A vehicle corridor that 
dominates pedestrian 

movement and activity 
along Moston Lane.

A people focused corridor that 
invites activity but manages 
vehicle movement to create 

a more equitable street 
environment between cars, 

cyclists and pedestrians.

•	 Inconsistent shop front signage, street furniture, 
lighting and lack of place branding create visual clutter 
and an uncoordinated environment, which negatively 
impacts upon the experience of spending time in the 
area. The framework will support improvements and 
visual co-ordination to the corridors appearance;

•	 Moston Lane is dominated by vehicle movement with 
on-street parking and narrow footways preventing 
spill out space. There is also no cyclist provision. 
Finding opportunities to re-balance the movement 
hierarchy along Moston Lane should be a priority;

•	 There are three small pocket parks along Moston Lane 
but none that encourage retail spill-out space or areas 
to host larger community events and functions; and

•	 Tulketh Industrial Estate lies just 385m (under 5 minute 
walk) south of Moston Lane and is home to 19 units/
workshops of local occupiers in services such as 
construction, vehicles and food manufacturing. The 
strategy could look to encourage more visits from 
local employment and other community focused uses 
into the local centre more of the time. 

P
age 108

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 15
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Development Principle - a more 
connected neighbourhood  

Moston Lane corridor is an environment 
dominated by vehicles, squeezing pedestrian space 
and creating conflict between pedestrians and 
vehicles.  There is an opportunity to reconsider 
movement along the corridor, whilst still retaining 
Moston Lane’s function as an important bus 
corridor. Opportunities to introduce cycle lanes for 
active travel, formalised parking bays, improved 
bus stops and shelters and carriageway narrowing 
to manage traffic speeds are all part of the 
Development Framework. Changes should look 
to promote more active travel choices for local 
people whilst still allowing for through journeys by 
bus and car.

In addition, the quality of surrounding local streets 
for active travel is low, and how you navigate 
around them is unclear. This means that many 
streets have the same function, encouraging 
vehicle rat running through residential areas. 

In response, the framework will support a clearer 
hierarchy of streets, identifying those which are 
primarily for vehicles and those which are quieter, 
limited to local access and which encourage more 
active travel through more generous footway and 
cycle way provision. 

Streets that connect local residential areas across 
the neighbourhood to schools, the local centre, 
healthcare facilities and outdoor spaces should be 
clear and comfortable to use for pedestrians. Links 
to bus stops and road crossings could also look to 
create more frequent and safe opportunities to 
cross streets and access buses.

A secondary series of parallel local streets to 
Moston Lane could also be established, promoting 
an alternative to Moston Lane for local trips and 
form connected ‘loops’ that integrate with existing 
and new residential areas to encourage sustainable 
trips onto Moston Lane.   

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) have 
bold plans to improve public transport services 
across Greater Manchester. Manchester City 
Council plan to work closely with TfGM to make 
sure Moston Lane sees the benefits of the 
improvement, delivered through the Bee Network- 
Manchester’s new sustainable, integrated 
transport system due to be rolled out to North 
Manchester in 2024.

‘Active Travel’......what this means

When we use the term active travel, we 

mean walking, wheeling and cycling. It is an 

integral part of how Manchester will create 

a zero carbon, liveable city, with clean air, 

pleasant streets and an environment in 

which active travel is an enjoyable, natural 

choice for everyday journeys.

Images above show the impact of 1. narrow 
footpaths 2. recent cycle and pedestrian 
crossing improvements 3. parking bays 
which could be improved 4. vehicles 
informally parking on footways 5. bus service 
along Moston Lane and 6. car parking in 
conflict with pedestrian movement.

1

3

5

2

4

6

P
age 109

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 16
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Existing Condition Harnessing the Opportunity 

A  centre dominated by a 
network of rat-running streets 

with low quality pedestrian 
and cycle provision and lack of 

street hierarchy. 

Establishing better street 
function and hierarchy so that its 
clear to people where they go to 
access surrounding amenities. We 
can do this by managing vehicle 
access and promoting sustainable 
travel across the neighbourhood 
in connected loops.

P
age 110

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 17
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Development Principle - offering 
a range of housing choices and 
diversity 

A key strand to strengthening the neighbourhood 
will be to provide a diversified and improved quality 
of housing offer for Moston local centre.  There 
are approximately 7,500 households across the 
study area, half of these are owner occupied. In 
addition, a further population growth of 11% is 
expected for the wider Moston area to 2030. This is 
representative of an increase in families choosing to 
locate in Moston.

The area currently offers a variety of residential 
types, ranging from traditional terraced streets in 
and around Moston Lane to more semi-detached 
and detached homes north towards Boggart Hole 
Clough and Broadhurst Fields/St Josephs Cemetery.

There are several positive elements that are 
reinforcing the residential appeal of the area:

•	 Moston is a more affordable area to live 
compared to many other neighbourhoods - 
average house prices are less than £150,000, 
with some of the newer homes starting to sell 
for more than £200,000;2 

•	 300 homes delivered by Redrow over the last 10 
years has provided a choice of modern homes. 

There is a strong pipeline of proposals for over 
200 new homes in Moston. 

Some of the issues affecting housing choice across 
the area include:

•	 Issues with the condition of homes, particularly 
in the private rented sector, compounded by 
some poor management of homes; and

•	 Most of the residential stock immediately 
around Moston Lane and to the north and 
south east are small ‘2 up, 2 down’ terraced 
properties, with small rear garden spaces and 
yards. Larger semi-detached and detached 
properties are located north north-east 
towards Boggart Hole Clough and are generally 
set within a more attractive streetscape 
environment; 

•	 Rental inflation remains one of the highest in 
the city driven by: 

	 - high demand for housing with limited 		
	 availability (fewer than 1% of homes 		
	 remain empty for over 6 months); 

	 - Lower house prices creating attractive 	
	 yields for investor landlords, limiting 		
	 available houses for would be buyers;  

•	 Given this relative affordability, Moston has a 
large number of people housed temporarily in 
the area, which puts pressure on local services 
and the local centre; and

•	 Good number of schools, which helps attract 
new residents, but achievement levels are 
low (ranking 3rd lowest in Manchester for Key 
Stage 2). 

Improving the type and availability of affordable 
homes within the centre, particularly utilising 
vacant land, could help to fill the current gap in 
the offer between high quality modern homes 
and poorer quality terraces. Both improvement 
of existing stock and new, well insulated housing 
with good amenity spaces for families will help to 
provide a better housing choice for local people 
whilst also attracting new residents.

2Moston Lane Housing Market Analysis’ by Manchester City Council 2021

P
age 111

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 18
Moston Lane Development Framework 

A linear local centre with Moston Lane serving as a 
through road. Various under-performing sites and 
lower quality housing types within close proximity 
to the retail core of the town.

Establishing a stronger spatial centre by focusing 
activity along Moston Lane,  links to surrounding 
strategic green space and supported by diversification 
of residential accommodation close to the local centre.

Existing Condition Harnessing the Opportunity 

P
age 112

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 19
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Development Principle -green 
space

Moston local centre is surrounded by large open 
greenspaces and also has three pocket parks, 
which could better support the vitality of the local 
centre.

Boggart Hole Clough 

Despite being less than a 5 minute walk from 
the middle of Moston Lane and a great outdoor 
destination for local residents, it is hidden and the 
routes to and from it are unclear. Part of the offer 
of an improved Moston local centre could be to 
better connect it with Boggart Hole Clough, as part 
of its function and appeal. A variety of activities 
and access to natural outdoor wellbeing are within 
easy access to Moston Lane and cross-promotion 
and accessibility between ‘The Clough’ and the 
local centre should be enhanced.

Moston Vale

A space which extends onto a network of smaller 
open spaces, is under utilised with issues of anti-
social behaviour and crime. This is a potential 
future asset which could be better connected 
to the centre, both physically and through more 
events and social activities. 

Broadhurst Park

Forming part of the Irk Valley Corridor, the 14 
hectare park,  with part of it granted status as a 
Local Nature Reserve and is the tenth across the 
City.  It provides ecological habitat and access to 
nature and wellbeing. Signage and links to the Park 
could be improved to better connect it to Moston 
local centre.

Moston Green

A cluster of attractive heritage buildings at the 
junction between Kenyon Lane, Moston Lane and 
Worsley Avenue help create a strong orientation 
and arrival to Moston. The historic pocket park to 
the front of St. Dunstan’s Church provides some 
opportunities to dwell but has a weak relationship 
with the surrounding street network. This could 
be improved to create a more accessible and 
welcoming environment, better integrated with 
the surrounding street network.  

Peace Garden and Simpson’s Memorial Garden

A small existing pocket park adjacent to the 
Simpson’s Memorial Hall sits along Moston Lane 
and provides some opportunities for dwell time. 
The space could be enhanced to offer a better 
quality space. 

Images above showing 1. public seating 
within small pocket park along Moston 
Lane 2. underutilised space in front of St. 
Dunstan’s Church 

1

2

P
age 113

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 20
Moston Lane Development Framework 

The spaces along Moston Lane are under-utilised 
and could offer improved amenity value to 
residents and visitors. Pedestrian connections 
to Boggart Hole Clough and Moston Vale open 
spaces are unclear, hidden and of a poor quality.

Creating a public square in the heart of the local 
centre, creating a space that currently doesn’t exist. 
Improving existing spaces and linking them better to 
surrounding larger spaces will offer more choice and 
quality of space to local residents.

Existing Condition Harnessing the Opportunity 

P
age 114

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 21
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Moston already has some fantastic 
features and ‘place assets’ that 
make up its identity, but which are 
currently disconnected from the 
centre or underutilised. These include 
attractive and distinctive historic 
buildings, a busy and bustling centre 
with few vacant shop units, large 
green spaces in close proximity, 
and a strong sense of community, 
with variety of different cultural 
influences. 

Beyond the high street, the 
neighbourhood sits next to 
Harpurhey which offers larger retail 
and leisure and youth amenities in the 
form of Manchester Youth Zone, as 
well as public transport connections 
to Manchester City Centre. 

This collection of physical and 
community assets provide a strong 
basis on which to secure and deliver 
meaningful and lasting change, which 
if harnessed correctly will allow 
Moston Lane to diversify and develop 
to meet the needs of its residents, as 
well as attracting more people to live 
in and enjoy the neighbourhood.

7. Vision and objectives

‘Moston Lane is 
a vibrant centre 
where families, 
community and 

culture mix along 
rejuvenated 

streets and new 
community-

focused spaces.’ 

Our Vision

Sustainable Vibrant Prosper Safer Growth

P
age 115

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 22
Moston Lane Development Framework 

The main objectives of the strategy for change are:

Creating a new local centre destination for 
Moston. A new place that offers space for the 
community, residents and local businesses to 
come together. 

A centre for Moston’s community which 
supports it to be an attractive, safe and vibrant 
neighbourhood.

To provide more opportunities for visitors 
to spend longer together in Moston Lane in 
attractive new spaces which can support a 
vibrant programme of events.

Spending time in welcoming streets and spaces, 
enjoying local amenities and visiting vibrant 
events.

 To make more of green and built assets. 

Showcase our built heritage and enhance pocket 
spaces and creating better connections to 
Boggart Hole Clough and Moston Vale

To support Moston to be an attractive, safe and 
vibrant neighbourhood.

Improving the quality of the environment across 
Moston to create a more comfortable and safer 
neighbourhood. 

Improved and safer streets that provide 
walking and cycling opportunities for all. 

To strengthen the existing street links to 
Moston Lane and to create more sustainable, 
active travel routes within and around the 
neighbourhood.

To enhance the choice and diversity of quality 
affordable and market homes, and improve the 
quality and management of existing stock.

Supporting the local centre with more housing 
choice for existing and new residents

Provide new, sustainable homes that integrate 
with existing streets.

Environmentally and economically sustainable 
homes that are well designed and overlook 
streets and spaces.

Local businesses continue to prosper and new 
retail and commercial units allow for growth

Environmental and building improvements to 
support local businesses to flourish.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Moston Lane Development Framework 
11

22

33

44

55

66

77

88

P
age 116

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 23
Moston Lane Development Framework 

The framework plan sets out the key physical 
opportunities for change, which work in tandem 
with the proposed non-physical interventions to 
create a more successful Moston Local Centre. 

The following pages set out 7 projects that we 
believe would help achieve the objectives and 
realise the vision for Moston. These are:

1.	 Establishing a stronger local 
centre with the creation of a new 
community focused space, able 
to host events, activities and 
comfortable dwell time within 
the heart of the local centre. The 
framework identifies a potential 
area of focus where this could be 
accommodated, but the location 
and scale of the space, as well as 
the surrounding development is 
subject to further engagement and 
design development; 

2.	 Supporting the delivery of new 
homes on various opportunity sites 
within the local centre;

3.	 Improve the quality and 
management of existing private 
rented stock;

4.	 Enhancing the quality of the 
public realm along Moston Lane, 
humanising the corridor to allow 
for spill out space, environmental 
improvements and improved 
pedestrian facilities;

5.	 Supporting more sustainable 
movement around the local centre 
and to surrounding green spaces;

6.	  Enhancing our existing spaces to 
offer improved functions for the 
local community; and

7.	 Rationalising car parking and 
improving the provision of parking 
within the centre. 

8. Development framework

P
age 117

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 24
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Figure 5: Development Framework for Moston Lane

P
age 118

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 25
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Project 1  
Moston’s Public Square 

This project focuses on creating a public square 
located south of Moston Lane, making the most 
of currently vacant land and transforming a low 
quality environment and preventing anti-social 
behaviour issues. 

Located along Moston Lane, it will create a 
destination for the local centre, establishing a 
centre point for the neighbourhood and the local 
community. Being connected with Moston Lane 
means that it will help support the existing street 
whilst also allowing for spill out activity within the 
square. This space could be used for a variety of 
community focused events from monthly markets, 
food festivals, pop-up shops, starting/ending point 
for sports events.

The square could be enclosed by new development 
as well as new connections to the surrounding 
existing street network. New development around 
the square could have a variety of ground floor 
uses, ranging from retail to health and wellbeing 
that bring activity, making it feel busy, safe and 
welcoming. 

The square could also accommodate new 
residential development both above the ground 
floor activity as well as new residential townhouses 
and terraces.

The new square will be characterised by a 
combination of high quality materials which will 
help it to feel part of Moston Lane and could 
include street furniture to allow people to dwell, 
cycle parking and storage, lighting, signage, 
art and sculpture, and cafes and restaurants to 

enjoy food and drink. The introduction of new 
tree planting and soft landscape features such as 
raised planters, rain gardens, perennial planting, 
sustainable drainage systems will help to add 
colour, shade, separation from vehicles and visual 
amenity to the square.

The new square should be designed in a way that 
allows for flexibility, creating a central space 
that is able to host larger events and functions. 
When events are not being held, the space could 
accommodate moveable planters, seating space 
for local businesses as well as introducing elements 
of play for younger families to enjoy. 

The location and configuration of the space, 
along with its supporting development, are 
subject to further engagement and design 
development.  

P
age 119

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 26
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Figure 6: Artist’s impression of a future Moston Lane square 

P
age 120

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 27
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Project 2   
New homes  

Manchester City Council is committed to delivering 
36,000 new homes (including 10,000 affordable) 
as part of its new Housing Strategy 2022-2032. We 
want to ensure we build the homes people want 
and need in the areas they live. We can only do 
this by better understanding the various housing 
challenges across the city. 

Responding to these challenges, this Framework 
identifies several sites where new housing could 
be delivered. New housing brought forward in and 
around Moston Lane should: 

•	 increase the overall supply of homes- including 
family sized housing;

•	 create more housing options across a range of 
tenures including affordable home ownership 
for those who want to remain close to families, 
friends, and jobs; and

•	 provide high quality affordable rented housing 
for those in most housing need. 

Not only will the above meet local housing 
challenges but will also deliver against our wider 
commitments set out under the Housing Strategy 
to: 

•	 deliver a range of tenures and house types, 
utilise brownfield land, increasing the supply of 
affordable home ownership products, deliver 

Project 3  
Improved rented stock 

As part of the wider strategy to support the 
delivery of new homes, and aligned to the Council’s 
Private Rented Sector Strategy, the Council should 
continue to encourage landlords to invest in their 
stock to improve safety, quality and management 
of the private rented sector. 

Enhanced communication between all parties 
to deliver better services by landlords for their 
tenants. The aim being to make them more aware 
of local support available and how they can play 
their part in keeping the area cleaner through 
supporting recycling and waste collection. 

Delivery of new homes, particularly on Council 
owned sites in partnership with registered 
providers, will increase the supply of more modern, 
well-managed properties across the area.

Manchester City Council’s 
development in Silk 
Street, Newtown Heath – 
completed summer 2023

The Dob Brook Close scheme 
in Newton Heath, completed 
by Guinness Partnership in 
October 2022

new family housing and create housing that is 
accessible to people on a range of incomes.

As a positive first step the council and its 
registered provider partners  are already working 
to deliver circa 170 new homes near Moston Lane 
as part of Project 500, which looks to deliver new 
affordable housing on brownfield land. These 
include new affordable home ownership products, 
affordable rented housing and family sized 3 & 4 
bed houses.

The sites identified in this framework will further 
build on the commitment to deliver suitable 
housing in Moston. 

P
age 121

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 28
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Project 4  
 
Enhancing Moston Lane 
Corridor
This project focuses on a number of ways of 
humanising Moston Lane, making it a place 
where people can make the most of the variety 
of local shops and improved spaces, for example 
the Peace Garden. It will focus on creating a 
street environment that gives more space for 
pedestrians, more opportunities to sit and rest, 
and that has a co-ordinated look and feel through 
improved shop front signage and better organised 
and arrangement of car parking, cycle parking and 
bus stop provision.

The following features will combine to create an enhanced 
Moston Lane corridor:

Physical improvements to Moston Lane 

Focusing on the physical layout and design of Moston Lane, 
between Gill Street and Romney Street. Moston Lane will also 
continue to function as an important connection providing 
access to bus services and providing car access to local shops 
so future upgrades to the design of the corridor will need to 
ensure that functional requirements are met. 

Future proposals should introduce more seating and spill out 
spaces for local businesses along Moston Lane to provide 
opportunities to dwell, supported by higher quality public 
realm. Improvement could include formalising on-street 
parking bays, widening footways where possible, creating build 
outs and carriageway narrowing to calm vehicular traffic and 
create improved pedestrian crossing points. 

In addition, introducing more soft landscape such as Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) and perennial planting features 
alongside more tree planting will create a more attractive and 
vibrant environment for different types of uses to sit alongside 
the variety of existing retailers, helping to diversify the offer.  

These changes could be brought forward both in the short 
term and  longer term. Short term interventions could include 
pop-up seating areas, temporary park-lets and raised planters 
along the corridor. This allows the trial of interventions to test 
ideas and bring improved amenity and experience to users, 
whilst longer term designs and proposals are being developed.

‘SuDS’......what this means

Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) 

are a way of draining surface water as an 

alternative to using networks of pipes and 

sewers. By mimicking natural drainage 

processes, SuDS aim to reduce surface 

water flooding, improve water quality and 

enhance the amenity and biodiversity value 

of the environment.

P
age 122

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 29
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Figure 7: Framework elements focusing on Moston Lane

P
age 123

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 30
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Improved signage and wayfinding

Moston Lane should have new gateway features 
that signals a positive arrival to the centre and new 
public square for visitors and those on foot and 
bike. This would form part of a wider wayfinding 
and signage strategy. Focused on Moston Lane, the 
wayfinding strategy  would signpost proximity to 
the important local green spaces and community 
facilities.

A coherent Moston Lane brand identity should 
be established. A distinctive and confident brand 
will help to establish the core of the centre, signal 
arrival to Moston and create opportunities for 
a stronger visual connection between media 
marketing and the environment. This branding 
could form part of the wider wayfinding strategy.

Improved walking and cycling along Moston Lane

Encouraging active travel along Moston Lane will 
help to create a more accessible and sustainable 
local centre and walking and cycling routes should 
be improved along Moston Lane. This could include 
wider pedestrian footways, more frequent and 
/or enhanced pedestrian crossing points and 
improved cycle provision. Secondary parallel 
routes to the south of Moston Lane, which will 
be pedestrian focused, will provide access to the 
new public square as well as access to surrounding 
residential areas and new development, offering 
an alternative, quieter walking link to Moston Lane.  

Shop frontage improvements

Focusing on the shop frontages along Moston Lane 
and Kenyon Lane to create a coordinated approach 
to shop frontage appearance. Improvements 
can achieve better overall consistency that 
helps to create a more pleasant, memorable and 
comfortable centre experience. There is also an 
opportunity to engage with local students/artists 
to create an extended programme of shop shutter 
artwork, animating the streetscape and creating a 
colourful environment beyond opening times. P

age 124

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 31
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Project 5 
 
Supporting more sustainable 
movement
The movement strategy identifies a number of 
streets on the northern and southern sides of 
Moston Lane that could be used to promote 
walking and cycling, connecting people to local 
amenities and surrounding parks and open spaces. 
This will improve choice and provide alternatives 
to the car and encourage modes of transport that 
reduce carbon emissions. The strategy will achieve 
this by:

Improving the quality of routes for sustainable 
travel

A number of streets have been identified for 
improvement so that they encourage active travel. 
Changes could include:

•	 footway improvements including widening to 
provide more space for people, businesses and 
bus stops, narrowing of vehicle junctions to 
create safer, direct crossings for people and 
improved materials;

•	 better directional signage to outdoor spaces;

•	 improved street lighting along routes;

•	 cycle lane provision and supporting cycle 
parking provision; and

•	 green infrastructure and tree planting to 
provide separation to vehicle carriageway  

These changes will allow easier access on foot, by 
cycle and provide improved bus facilities as well as 
opportunities to link through to development and 
investment sites as well. 

In addition, where new development opportunities 
areas are identified new development should 
promote pedestrian movement to the top of the 
movement hierarchy. Clear, safe and comfortable 
east-west secondary pedestrian connectivity, 
to the south of Moston Lane across opportunity 
areas, has the potential to be created. This would 
reduce travel distances on foot or by cycle through 
the area, potentially addressing issues of short 
vehicular trips across the neighbourhood. 

Image credit: Cyclehoop

P
age 125

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 32
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Integrated with public transport

Alongside strengthening the attractiveness of 
routes through the area, it is recommended that 
‘cycle hubs’ are delivered on Moston Lane, and 
at key destination points next to bus stops along 
Moston Lane and in Moston’s new public square to 
encourage greater dwell time. 

Providing secure, overlooked cycle parking at 
these hubs, delivered alongside enhanced bus 
stop/shelter and real-time passenger information 
will encourage more sustainable and active travel 
journeys.

From these hubs it will then be possible to 
follow defined routes to access points to local 
open spaces (such as Boggart Hole Clough and 
Broadhurst Park ). At these locations additional 
secure cycle parking will be provided, to encourage 
sustainable travel to and from these spaces and to 
also deal with the challenging gradients into these 
areas that might preclude some cyclists accessing 
these areas. 

Currently there are no indicators of travel times/
distances to facilities that fall within a 2km walk or 
5km cycle of the area, which should be provided as 
part of the movement strategy. 

Image credit: Cyclehoop

P
age 126

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 33
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Greener streets

Improving the quality of connections between 
Moston Lane and its surrounding variety of open 
spaces is important, as it will encourage more 
people to use them more of the time. Better 
design (changes to street design) and visual 
connections (features informing users that the 
street connects to a bigger greenspace) can be 
used to achieve this.

The movement strategy creates a clear street 
hierarchy that identifies which streets lead to open 
green spaces, including  Boggart Hole Clough, 
Moston Vale and Broadhurst Park. It focuses on 
improving those streets which provide a direct 
link to and from these spaces. Environmental 
improvements could include branded and colour 
co-ordinated signage along key routes, further 
greening of streets with planters, parklets and tree 
planting, rain gardens and wildflower planting, 
temporary and permanent seating and local 
grow spaces. There may also be opportunities 
to temporarily widen footways for pedestrians 
and cyclists to establish these streets as the main 
connectors to surrounding green spaces. 

Increasing the number of people using the spaces 
such as Moston Vale, that currently suffers from 
anti-social behaviour issues, can begin to help 
self-police and reduce opportunities for anti-
social behaviour. There are also opportunities to 
introduce larger areas of play space, explorer trails, 
ecological restoration, walking and mountain bike 
routes to Moston Vale. Similar interventions within 
Clayton Vale have helped to diversify the use of the 
space as well and attracting a variety of different 
people to use it. 

Part of the street hierarchy should also create 
safer, more sustainable pedestrian, cycle and 
young/elderly movement choice to important 
well-being and community spaces. There are a 
number of secondary streets which could be used 
to achieve this.

P
age 127

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 34
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Figure 8: Illustrative movement framework

P
age 128

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 35
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Project 6 
 
Enhancing existing spaces
Moston Lane’s three pocket spaces ‘Moston 
Green’, ‘Simpson’s Memorial Garden’ and ‘Peace 
Garden’ have the potential to be improved to offer 
greater diversity and type of pocket park space 
along Moston Lane. 

Each space will be enhanced to support the vitality 
of the local centre and support the wellbeing of its 
community. The sketch concepts shown illustrate 
how a interventions could improve the public realm 
quality, setting and function of each of the spaces.

Moston Green - fronting St Dunstan’s Church

To improve the functionality and atmosphere 
of the green, the primary pathway could be 
expanded, providing more space for gatherings 
and socialising together with new seating. 
Rationalising the area of railing is also being 
considered, with the possibility of transforming 
the small triangular space into a rain garden that 
utilises nearby surface water. Efforts to enhance 
biodiversity within the area will involve preserving 
deadwood and introducing new insect hotels. 
Additionally, to add a touch of vibrancy and 
interactivity, colourful sensory play elements could 
be incorporated. New signage and wayfinding will 
help give the space a stronger sense of identity. Figure 9: Initial sketch ideas exploring key themes for Moston Green

St Dunstan’s Green

Rain Garden 
with SuDS 

enabled trees 
connected to 

highway gullies

Incorporate 
wildlife habitat 

including 
retention of 

deadwood and  
insect hotels 

Reduce 
area of 
railing 

New Memorial 
Tree to replace 

failed tree

Refreshed 
seating 

near to bus 
stop

Route through Green 
widened and new 

seating installed with 
view to St Dunstans 
Church. Space for 

gathering, taking photos 
and meeting friends 

increased

Assess 
health of 
trees with 

aim to 
retain

Interactive 
play elements 
incorporated 

into green 
space

Signage and 
wayfinding 

incorporated

P
age 129

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 36
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Simpson’s Memorial Garden 

The plans include enhancements to the main path 
to improve accessibility and create a stronger 
sense of arrival. Within the garden new interactive 
elements affixed to the existing shipping 
storage container will help to blend it into the  
surroundings. 

To activate the space and provide the local 
amateur dramatics group and other groups with 
an external performance area an outdoor stage is 
suggested. A screen which could support climbing 
plants is proposed to help mask adjacent buildings. 
New signage and wayfinding will be incorporated 
to help users navigate the gardens and associated 
buildings as well as an improved community notice 
board. The main grassed area will be maintained 
as multifunctional space while incorporating 
additional biodiversity features along its edges.

Simpson Memorial Hall Garden

New screen 
to mask 
adjacent 
buildings

External 
performance 

space for 
amateur dramtic  

group and 
community use

Storage 
container 

retained and 
fun interactive 

cladding 
introduced

Climbing plants 
to soften and 

green proposed 
screen

Retain open 
grassed area as 
multi functional 

space 

Incorporate 
bird houses and 

insect hotels 
for increased 

biodivesityBuff path 
surface 

treatment to 
uplift routes 
through the 

garden

Surface 
improvements 
to access path  

to Simpson 
Hall entrance 

Figure 10: Initial sketch ideas exploring key themes for Simpson’s Memorial Garden

P
age 130

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 37
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Peace Garden

The proposals include improved connections and 
path enhancements to encourage people to move 
through the space and create a more inviting 
atmosphere. New seating will be included near 
the existing bus stop to provide people with a 
place to sit, rest and wait, with clear visibility of an 
approaching bus. New signage and wayfinding will 
help give the space a stronger sense of identity 
and compliment the enhancement of existing 
features like the Peace Mosaic and Memorial 
Stone. Colour and vibrancy will be incorporated 
through informal play and biodiversity elements 
including insect hotels.

Moston Lane Peace Garden

Informal 
colourful play 
boulders and 
stepping logs

Buff path 
surface 

treatment to 
uplift routes 
through the 

garden

Mosaic and 
memorial 

stone relocated 
to more 

prominent 
positions

New seating 
near bus stop 

with clear view 
of approaching 

buses

Improved link 
to Simpson 

Medical Practice  
during practice 
opening hours

Improved 
linkages 

to Bowling 
Green

Existing 
trees 

retained
Signage and 
wayfinding 

incorporated

Figure 11: Initial sketch ideas exploring key themes for Moston Lane Peace Garden

P
age 131

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 38
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Project 7 
 
Improving car parking
Parking provision across Moston is provided in an 
unstructured way. As an example the short-stay 
parking bays on Moston Lane lack enforcement 
and so these ‘shopper-focused’ spaces are 
invariably used for long-stay parking, limiting 
the turnover of spaces and potentially having a 
negative impact on local businesses. 

To address this the framework introduces a 
hierarchal approach to parking across the local 
area. The short-stay on-street parking on Moston 
Lane should be retained and enforced, to ensure 
a greater turnover of spaces and to increase visits 
to the local retail offer. Parking provision should 
be formalised as part of design improvements to 
Moston Lane carriageway, creating clear parking 
areas and reducing conflict with pedestrians.

To the south of Moston Lane, as part of the sites 
identified for investment and opportunity, an 
integrated, attractive, overlooked multi-functional 
west - east linear corridor could accommodate 
residential and visitor parking whilst promoting 
pedestrian movement. 

As part of this, Birchenall Street could also 
accommodate additional car parking for visitors to 
use within close proximity to Moston Lane. 

Providing parking in this format will ensure that 
longer stay parking is only a short walk from the 
retail offer along the length of Moston Lane, and 
at the same time ensuring the space remains 
attractive to use both day and night for visitors, 
residents and for local community events. 

In providing this reordered parking provision it 
will be necessary to better manage and allocate 
kerbside space for loading allowing easy access for 
local businesses to be serviced without competing 
for kerbside space. 

P
age 132

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 39
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Development opportunities around Moston Lane 
are focused across areas where land is currently 
underutilised or which, if redeveloped in line 
with the vision and objectives of this framework, 
could create impactful change to the local 
neighbourhood.

There are pipeline proposals for over 200 new 
homes on sites either with planning approved, 
planning pending or in a pre-planning phase which 
are expected to be delivered. This includes 175 new 
affordable homes which will significantly enhance 
the choice of quality affordable homes in Moston.3

Six immediate opportunity areas and an additional 
five longer term opportunity areas have been 
identified. 

Of these sites, two have not been previously 
identified as a potential residential development 
sites and could therefore potentially be new 
additions to Moston’s residential pipeline. 

Proposals will need to align with current and 
emerging housing and planning policies of the 
Council and GMCA. The appropriate mix and 
tenure of new homes will be determined on a 
scheme by scheme basis through the planning 
process. In response to the analysis of the current 
supply of homes, the mix should include shared 
ownership and rent to buy, which will ensure that 
new homes delivered are available to support 
residents to own their properties rather than just 
increasing the supply of homes in the private 
rented sector. It should also include social rent and 
affordable rent, ensuring that the supply of homes 
for rent is increased and its quality enhanced, 
especially in terms of energy efficiency. 

The following opportunity sites were considered:

1.	 Sites for investment and opportunity - Moston 
Lane Local Centre - 1.21ha

2.	 Ebsworth Street Car Park - 0.22 ha

3.	 Birchenall Street - 0.15 ha

4.	 Land off Winston Road - 0.65 ha

5.	 Land adjacent to Tulketh Industrial Estate - 
0.92 ha

6.	 Hough Hall Road - 0.18 ha

7.	 Land west of Kenyon Lane -0.39 ha

8.	 Sites for investment and opportunity - Tulketh 
Industrial Estate - 0.94 ha

9.	 Gill Street East - 0.1 ha

10.	 GIll Street West - 0.23 ha

11.	 Land off Ivy Street - 0.12 ha

A - Moston Campus - the former MCR College site 
redeveloped for new homes - 1.33 ha

3Moston Lane Housing Market Analysis’ by Manchester City Council 2021

9. Development opportunity sites

P
age 133

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 40
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Figure 12: Potential sites for investment and opportunity

Sites for investment & opportunity

P
age 134

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 41
Moston Lane Development Framework 

SITES 1, 2 & 3: NEW LOCAL CENTRE

Sites 1 - 3 combine to create a transformational 
change to the centre of Moston, including quality 
residential-led mixed use development, a public 
civic space and new walking routes across a 
coherent and attractive public realm. 

The exact extent of land available with direct 
frontage is to be determined but the framework 
seeks to establish a development presence 
onto Moston Lane. The framework also seeks to 
establish stronger and more direct pedestrian 
accessibility west - east, in parallel to Moston 
Lane. This may include the relocation of some 
current uses to accommodate this connection, 
subject to further engagement. The framework 
sets out a potential approach to provide 
alternative accommodation, if required. 

Site 1: Vacant Land and Moston Lane 

Frontage

Site 1 is the combination of various surface car 
parking sites occupying land cleared for future 
housing as well as parades of retail units. There are 
current issues with parking, access and servicing 
of the retail units on Moston Lane and limited 
opportunities to enable residents to dwell within 
the Centre. The three cleared sites, which are 
allocated residential sites, combine to deliver 

new residential led development with some 
community/local retail uses on the ground floor. 

New development blocks and urban townhouse 
development could front onto a new civic space 
and pedestrian focused east - west sustainable 
link, connecting new residential development with 
local amenities. 

The framework sets the broad principles for the 
area for potential parties to further develop 
detailed proposals. 

Image of Site 
1 currently as a 
cleared site for 
future residential-led 
development

P
age 135

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 42
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Site 2: Ebsworth Street Car Park 

Linked to unlocking a new local centre is the 
redevelopment of the Ebsworth Street Car Park. 
This site could provide potential re-provision of 
existing uses elsewhere within the area in order to 
deliver a new local centre. Development on this 
site could create a new frontage onto Kenyon Lane 
whilst still providing formal car parking for shops 
and improved parking for future uses on the site. 

Site 3: Birchenall Street 

Echelon parking bays and environmental 
improvements could be delivered along Birchenall 
Street with the aim of improving the appearance 
of the street. This approach would address the 
unattractive backs of the shops through boundary 
screening, tree planting, improved pedestrian 
footways, buffer planting and lighting to create a 
more attractive and safer street environment for 
local residents. The existing carriageway could also 
be narrowed, accommodating the echelon parking 
bays, widened footways along the existing terraced 
properties and formalised resident parking bays, 
to manage and calm vehicle movements along the 
street. 

The public parking would offer slightly longer free 
parking than Moston Lane to serve local shops 
and provide an increase in the provision of parking 
currently along Birchenall Street. 

Implementation of interventions along Birchenall 
Street would be subject to further engagement 
with current owners, with the aim being to reduce 
ASB in the area, reducing the cost of managing 
and policing the area and creating a more fit-for- 
purpose servicing provision for existing retailers.  

View looking across Site 2 View looking along Site 3

P
age 136

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 43
Moston Lane Development Framework 

SITE 4: LAND OFF WINSTON ROAD

Redevelopment of the cleared sites around Winston 
Road provides the opportunity to deliver modern, 
well-designed energy efficient homes close to Moston 
Lane. The scheme could add new development 
frontage onto Winston Road and Hodge Street.

The focus should be on providing modern, terraced 
and energy efficient homes. The aim being to offer 
affordable homes which provide a modern and 
attractive alternative to the older terraces within the 
neighbourhood, accommodating couples or families, 
supporting stability and use of the local centre. 

New homes should be designed to create eyes on the 
street and re-enforce connections through to Moston 
local centre. There is the potential to bring homes 
forward in the short term, which respond to local 
needs and meet the Council’s aspiration for design and 
place quality.

Figure 13: 
Illustrative layout 
of how a proposed 
residential 
development could 
come forward for 
Site 4 (may be 
subject to change).

P
age 137

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 44
Moston Lane Development Framework 

SITE 5: LAND ADJACENT TO TULKETH 

INDUSTRIAL ESTATE

The scheme illustrates how this area could be 
brought forward as a new residential development, 
making use of a currently vacant space which is 
subject to issues of ASB and fly tipping. Other 
uses may also be appropriate for the site. One 
key advantage to residential development on 
the site is the opportunity to create formalised, 
good quality pedestrian connections through the 
site, connecting Mapledon Road to the west with 
Kenyon Lane to the east.  This would form part of 
the wider pedestrian and active travel network 
for the southern part of Moston, sustainably 
connecting existing residential areas to the core of 
Moston’s new civic space and centre.

New residential development could be focused on 
delivering 3-4 bedroom homes targeting families, 
given the proximity to local amenities in the area 
including schools and the health centre. 

The site is a former clay pit site and it is anticipated 
that it may have constraints below ground which 
would need to be identified and confirmed through 
more detailed site assessments. 

Development of the site could create a new green 
corridor linking Whitaker Street and Watermans 
Close encouraging more residents to walk when 
accessing local amenities along Moston Lane and 
Kenyon Lane. Vehicular access should be designed 
in a manner that prevents full through routing for 
vehicles. 

Longer term, this site could come forward as part 
of a wider residential redevelopment opportunity 
area, linked to the Tulekth Industrial Estate. The 
suitability of an holistic residential development 
would be subject to the long term proposals for 
the Tulketh Industrial Estate (longer term site no.8) 
and whether the site could transition to residential 
in the long term. 

Figure 14: 
Illustration of 
how a proposal 
could come 
forward for Site 5 
(may be subject 
to change).

P
age 138

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 45
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Longer Term Sites

7.  Land west of Kenyon Lane -0.39 ha

8. Tulketh Industrial Estate - 0.94 ha

9.  Gill Street East - 0.1 ha

10. GIll Street West - 0.23 ha

11. Land off Ivy Street - 0.12 ha

Residential opportunities to support future  
local centre vitality 

A number of the opportunity sites are defined by 
new residential development. Proposals should 
seek to respond to the gaps in the existing local 
housing provision – providing a range of affordable 
modern mid-sized  homes, particularly family 
homes, across a range of tenures including shared 
ownership.  

Schemes should support best practice in design 
including building sustainability, a commitment 
to net zero and consideration of neighbourhood 
management.  

The most appropriate route to delivery should be 
considered on a site by site basis and development 
partners could include This City, Registered 
Providers and local developers seeking to provide 
quality affordable homes.  

There are likely to be opportunities for sites to be 
delivered in parallel in response to local demand. 

Figure 15: Longer term sites for 
opportunity and investment

P
age 139

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 46
Moston Lane Development Framework 

A draft version of this Neighbourhood 
Development Framework was consulted on during 
summer 2023. A full report on the consultation 
process and the feedback from residents was 
produced and presented to Manchester City 
Council’s (MCC) Executive in October 2023, 
alongside a report seeking endorsement of 
this framework. The Executive report and the 
consultation report can be found on the Council 
website, however a summary is presented below.  

The consultation ran for 4 weeks from 26 June to 
23 July 2023 and was managed by officers from the 
MCC Development Team. MCC sent out a range 
of consultation materials before and during the 
consultation period to inform residents and local 
businesses about the draft strategy, as well as to 
engage and inform the target audiences. 

Consultation materials and publicity   

Postcards were sent to 2,975 homes and 
businesses in the local area to alert people to the 
consultation. These postcards were distributed 
to homes and shops in the wider neighbourhood 
around Moston Lane, as these are the residents 
and businesses who live and work locally and are 
best placed to comment on the proposals in the 
framework. 

The postcard included a link and QR code to the 
online consultation and information about the 
in-person consultation sessions taking place in 
July. Digital versions of the postcard were also 
issued through community networks, and posters 
advertising the consultation were given to shops 
on Moston Lane to put up in their windows, along 
with a banner outside Simpson Memorial Hall. 

A press release was also sent out on 26 June to 
local and industry media, and the consultation 
was featured on the MCC website and was posted 
across MCC’s social media accounts.

10. Consultation

Online Consultation 

A webpage for the consultation was set up on 
the manchester.gov.uk website and went live on 
26th June. Also, this provided information on the 
key principles of the draft framework and a link 
to a downloadable PDF version of the full draft 
Strategy. The webpage also included a link to the 
online questionnaire and details of the in-person 
engagement sessions.

Consultation event at the 
Simpson Memorial Hall, July 2023

P
age 140

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 47
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Public consultation events

Two public consultation drop-in sessions were held 
in the main hall in Simpson Memorial Hall, located 
on Moston Lane. The events were held 3-6pm on 
Thursday 13 July and 12-3pm on Saturday 15 July. 
Both sessions were staffed by representatives 
from MCC’s Development, Strategic Housing and 
Neighbourhoods Teams, alongside landscape 
architects from CW studio Ltd, who are designing 
the enhancements to three green spaces in 
Moston Lane.

At each event, visitors could look at the 
consultation boards, which showed the overall 
vision and objectives for Moston Lane, and 
highlighted plans for a new public square, new 
affordable homes, improved travel around Moston 
Lane and enhancing green spaces. MCC officers 
were also available to discuss any queries about 
the draft strategy. An A3 hard copy of the full draft 
strategy was also available for visitors to read. 

Both events were well attended, with 
approximately 120 attendees on the Thursday and 
114 attendees recorded on the Saturday. 

Targeted Engagement Groups

Officers from the Neighbourhoods team also 
identified a number of local groups to engage:

•	 Moston Lane Trader’s Association 

•	 Moston Home Watch 

•	 Moston Muslim Community Centre (Masjid 
AI-Noor)

•	 Bowler’s Club 

•	 Moston Matters 

Summary and evaluation of responses

In total, 494 completed questionnaire responses 
were received, of which 43 were hard copy 
questionnaire responses and 451 were completed 
online. This represents a healthy response rate, and 
compares with 271 responses to the Wythenshawe 
Civic consultation in 2022 and 268 returns for the 
Gorton District Centre NDF consultation in the 
same year.

The headline proposals in the draft Moston Lane 
NDF were positively received. In many cases, 
respondents raised legitimate questions about 
how the proposals would be delivered and/or 
managed over the long-term (e.g. how the new 
square would be looked after, or what tenure the 
new homes would be), and such questions will be 
considered as and when the individual projects 
come forward.

The draft NDF document was amended to reflect 
the feedback received, and has been captured in 
this final version of the framework. This includes 
the addition of a new section - Section 11 - of the 
document, to address the Moston Lane ‘retail 
offer’, and respond to questions about school and 
health provision. 

Consultation event with local 
traders, Sunday 16th July 2023

P
age 141

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 48
Moston Lane Development Framework 

11. Wider issues raised in the 
public consultation
Retail / Food & beverage

A large number of respondents to the 
consultation commented negatively on the 
shops along Moston Lane, noting that there 
was a large number of hair and beauty salons, 
barbers, convenience stores and off licences, 
but a lack of recognised high street brands or 
shops selling clothing, footwear and similar 
‘comparison’ goods. Similarly, places to eat 
and drink were in short supply, it was said, 
other than takeaways. 
A snapshot analysis of the retail offer 
undertaken following the consultation 
confirms these comments, as does the 
previous business survey referenced on page 
13. Hair/beauty and convenience stores/off 
licences do make up nearly half of the total 
number of shops along Moston Lane, which 
is arguably more than might be expected on 
an ‘average’ high street with Moston Lane’s 
characteristics. That said, many of these 
shops are independent and/or family-run 
traders, and they are evidently responding 
to a local demand for these services. It is also 
true that Moston Lane enjoys an enviably 
low vacancy rate of 3%, with just 4 out of 132 

shops empty when surveyed in July 2023. This 
compares favourably with other locations 
around Manchester and with the national 
picture in terms of high street performance. It 
should also be remembered that, in terms of 
broader planning policy, nearby Harpurhey is 
considered the primary retail area for Moston 
Lane and contains both the shopping centre 
and also the large Asda superstore.   
There are nonetheless opportunities to use 
the Development Framework to improve the 
‘offer’ on Moston Lane. One major barrier to 
new, larger retailers coming to the area is that 
the shop units themselves are generally all 
small, ground floor units that do not have the 
required floorspace required by many high 
street retailers and food and beverage (F&B) 
operators. Larger units could be provided 
around the new public square that is proposed 
in the framework, with the retail/F&B forming 
the ground floor and residential homes above, 
and such an arrangement would also help 
to animate the new square. The commercial 
viability of this option will be explored as 
the plan for the square come forward – it is 
recognised that the wider retail environment 

across the UK remains challenging. However, 
as the square and adjoining buildings will 
be built on MCC-owned land, the Council 
(and any delivery partner) will have control 
over who retail units are let to, and on what 
terms. This means the Council can develop a 
commercial strategy for the new retail units 
that aims to diversify the retail offer, and 
ensure any new businesses moving into the 
square are appropriate and add value to the 
area. 
A second action in relation to retail will be to 
look at how existing businesses on Moston 
Lane can be supported to grow in the future, 
and/or improve their existing commercial 
performance. One suggestion raised by a 
number of respondents to the consultation 
was for a ‘shopfront improvement’ 
programme, with publicly funded investment 
in shop signage and the physical fabric of shop 
units. Whilst there are many precedents for 
such programmes around the country, they 
can prove prohibitively expensive, particularly 
in a location such as Moston Lane with a 
very long high street and a large number of 
individual units to invest in. Such schemes 

P
age 142

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 49
Moston Lane Development Framework 

are also not guaranteed to succeed if they 
do not also address the wider economic and 
environmental issues in an area.
Instead, officers from Development and 
Work and Skills will speak with the Business 
Growth Hub to identify a potential package 
of business support measures that could be 
rolled out to the existing traders on Moston 
Lane. This could include advice and guidance 
around investment, funding and strategy, or 
specific training on certain aspects of business 
or management. Funding for this activity will 
come from existing mainstream funding and 
through the GMCA’s UK Shared Prosperity 
Funding.

Shop fronts on Moston Lane

P
age 143

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 50
Moston Lane Development Framework 

Health 

With significant new development taking 
place across north Manchester, including in 
Collyhurst and Victoria North, there are a 
number of discussions taking place between 
colleagues in the NHS and city council about 
future health and social care requirements. As 
well as growing populations in locations such 
as Moston Lane, the ageing population also 
needs to be considered, alongside the changes 
to the way in which health and care services 
are delivered. The future transformation of 
North Manchester General Hospital will also 
impact how services are provided across the 
north of the city.
In terms of the specific requirements for 
residents in and around Moston Lane, there 
is a question over whether the existing 
GP surgery at the Simpson Memorial Hall 
is sufficient to meet current and future 
needs. It may be that one of the proposed 
development sites within the framework could 
provide space for an expanded and improved 
healthcare facility. These options will be 
explored in consultation with NHS and health 
partners as the sites come forward for more 
detailed design.

Buses

Moston Lane is served by a large number 
of bus routes, most of which start/end at 
Piccadilly Gardens and connect continue onto 
Middleton, Higher Crumpsall and Oldham. 
Many residents complained about the 
frequency and journey times for some of these 
routes, and also the lack of connections to 
other parts of the city. It was also pointed out 
that the busiest stops outside the Post Office 
had no bus shelter.
Bus routes and scheduling are the 
responsibility of TfGM, however given this 
feedback officers will work with colleagues 
across Growth and Development and 
Highways to engage with the relevant teams 
at TfGM to relay these comments and make 
them aware of the proposals within the NDF. 

Education

Some respondents to the consultation were 
keen to understand how more homes and 
more people living in the area would impact 
local services, including school and health 
provision.
In terms of education, there are a number 
of primary schools in and around Moston 
Lane. As the housing schemes set out in the 
Development Framework come forward and 
the precise number of homes, size and tenure 
become clear, officers will provide this data to 
the Children’s and Education service to allow 
them to revise their forecasts for the demand 
for pupil places in and around Moston Lane.
It is important to note that the demand for 
pupil places is not solely driven by new homes: 
people moving to the area from elsewhere in 
Manchester or beyond is often the primary 
driver for in-year demand for places, and the 
Children’s and Education service monitor this 
across the city through the twice-yearly school 
census.

P
age 144

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



pg. 51
Moston Lane Development Framework 

12. Action Plan
Set out below is a high-level action plan for the delivery of this Framework and the projects set out. Progress against these 
actions will be managed by a working group made up of council officers, and ward members will be updated on the action 
plan via regular briefings. Local residents and businesses will be consulted on specific proposals on a project-by-project basis, 
as appropriate. 

Note on timescale
Short-term              0-12 months
Medium-term        1-2 years
Long-term              3 years+

Action 
Number

Objective/Theme NDF  
Reference

Action Owner Budget/Funding Timescale
(S/M/L- Term)

Action Plan 
Reference

Undertake a detailed feasibility study to determine the optimal size, location and configurtion 
of a new public square.
Devise a funding and delivery strategy for both the new square and associated commercial 
and residential development.

Once a funding and delivery strategy is in place, consult with the local community on detailed 
design.

Undertake appropriate due diligence on housing sites identified in the NDF, and identify 
funding and delivery strategy for each site.
Relay the feedback from the NDF consultation to the Housing Compliance and Enforcement 
Team and discuss options for further proactive work in the Moston Lane area.

Support rollout and promotion in Moston Lane of the GM Mayor’s ‘Good Landlord Charter’ 
(subject to consultation)

Subject to funding being identified, undertake physical improvements to Moston Lane (e.g. 
widening of footways, tree planing, SUDs, signage, Active Travel measures).
Install alleygates to rear of Moston Lane to help tackle fly-tipping

Explore options for commercial waste agreement to help managed waste and reduce littering
Invest in Simposon Memorial Hall to improve physical appearance and functioning of the 
venue.

Engage with TfGM to relay the feedback about bus services in Moston Lane, and make them 
aware of the long-term development proposals in the NDF.

Identify funding streams for Active Travel improvements and Green Improvements on streets 
identified in the NDF.
Enhancements to the Peace Gardens, Moston Green, and the garden at the Simpson Memorial 
Hall

Undertake detailed on and -off street parking survey to understand existing level of demand 
and patterns of use; this will inform future development plans.
Subject to network review and traffic assessment to look implement a one-way system at the 
back of Moston Lane from Albine St to Ebsworth St.

Work with the Business Growth Hub to identify options for business support, including 
potentially a second Small Business Roadshow following the one in 2022.

Develop or facilitate larger retail units in or around Moston Lane, to facilitate growth of 
existing businesses and/or to attract new occupiers with larger floorspace requirements.
Review feedback from consultation and identify if any additional enforcement activity 
required in relation to issues identified, and engage with GMP as required.

Identify potential activity and interventions to address issues raised by the consultation, in line 
with MCC’s Building Stronger Communities Strategy

Development Team  

Development Team  

Development Team  

Development Team / 
Strategic Housing
Development Team 
& Neighbourhoods

Development Team / 
Strategic Housing

Development Team / 
Highways
Neighbourhoods

Neighbourhoods
Development Team / 
Estates

Development Team  

Development Team / 
Highways 
Development Team  

Development Team / 
Highways
Neighbourhoods / 
Highways

Work & Skills / 
Neighbourhoods 

Development Team 

Neighbourhoods  

Neighbourhoods

1a 

1b 

1c 

2a 

3a 

3b 

4a 

4b

4c
4d 

5a 

5b 

6a 

7a 

7b 

8a 

8b 

9a 

10a

S 

S 

M/L 

S/M/L 

S 

S/M 

M/L 

S

S/M
S/M 

S 

M/L 

S 

S 

S 

S 

M/L 

S 

S/M/L

Existing 

Existing 

TBC - subject to funding strategy 

Existing 

Existing 

Existing 

TBC 

Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF)

Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF)
Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) & MCC 
Asset Management Plan funding

Existing 

TBC 

Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) 

 

Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) 

Existing 

Subject to location, ownership etc. 

Existing 

Existing

1 

 

 

2 

3 

 

4 

 

5 

 

6 

7 

 

8 

 

9 

10

Project 1 

 

 

Project 2 

Project 3 

 

Project 4 

 

Project 5 

 

Project 6 

Project 7 

 

pg. 48 

 

N/A 

N/A

Moston’s Public Square 

 

 

New homes 

Improved rented stock 

 

Enhancing Moston Lane 
corridor

 

Supporting more 
sustainable movement

 

Enhancing existing 
spaces

Improving car parking 

 

Retail 

 

Community Safety 

Community Cohesion

P
age 145

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



Moston Lane 
Development Framework
Manchester City Council 

Final Draft
October 2023

P
age 146

Item
 8

A
ppendix 1,



 

1 
 

Moston Lane Neighbourhood Development Framework: report from 
the public consultation in June/July 2023 

 
Contents 
 

1. Introduction 
2. Consultation Process 
3. Summary and evaluation of responses 
4. Conclusions and next steps 

Appendices 
 
1.0 Introduction  
 
1.1 As part of MCC’s district centres programme the MCC Development, Strategic Housing and 

Neighbourhoods Teams are working together to deliver a range of projects and improvements 
in and around Moston Lane in north Manchester.   
 

1.2 One of the initial steps in this programme of work is the drafting of a Neighbourhood 
Development Framework (NDF) for Moston Lane, the aim of which is to help secure and 
promote the future growth and sustainability of Moston Lane in the years ahead. 
 

1.3 The draft NDF sets out a vision of Moston Lane as a “vibrant centre where families, community 
and culture mix along rejuvenated streets and new community-focused spaces”. 
 

1.4 This vision for Moston Lane will be achieved through seven projects set out in the framework: 
 
a) Establishing a stronger local centre with the creation of a new community focused space, 

able to host events, activities and comfortable dwell time within the heart of the local 
centre.  

b) Supporting the delivery of new homes on various opportunity sites within the local centre.  
c) Improve the quality and management of existing private rented stock.  
d) Enhancing the quality of public realm along Moston Lane, humanising the corridor to allow 

for spill out space, environmental improvements, and improved pedestrian facilities. 
e) Supporting more sustainable movement around the local centre and to surrounding green 

spaces.  
f) Enhancing our existing green spaces to offer improved functions for the local community.  
g) Rationalising car parking and improving the provision of parking within the centre.  

 
1.5 This document provides a summary of the feedback from the consultation on the draft 

Neighbourhood Development Framework. It is intended to provide a standalone account of 
that consultation for future reference, including when the final draft of the NDF is presented 
to MCC’s Executive for endorsement. 
 
 
 
 

Page 147

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

2 
 

2.0 Consultation Process 
 
2.1 The consultation ran for 4 weeks from 26 June to 23 July 2023 and was managed by officers 

 from the MCC Development Team. To note, written responses received by post after 23 July 
were accepted and the results included in this analysis. 
 

2.2 MCC sent out a range of consultation materials before and during the consultation period to 
inform residents and local businesses about the draft strategy, as well as to engage and inform 
the target audiences. A dedicated email address (district.centres@manchester.gov.uk) was 
also set up before the consultation period. 

 
 Consultation materials and publicity   

 
2.3 On 26 June MCC officers sent out postcards to 2,975 homes and businesses in the local area 

to alert people to the consultation. These postcards were distributed to homes and shops in 
the wider neighbourhood around Moston Lane, as these are the residents and businesses who 
are most likely to live, work and connect locally and therefore impacted by the proposals in 
the framework. The postcard and the distribution area are at Appendix 1. 
 

2.4 The postcard included a link and QR code to the online consultation and information about 
the in-person consultation sessions taking place in July. Digital versions of the postcard were 
also issued through community networks, and posters advertising the consultation were given 
to shops on Moston Lane to put up in their windows, along with a banner outside Simpson 
Memorial Hall.  
 

2.5 A press release was sent out on 26 June to local and industry media. The consultation was also 
featured on the MCC website and was also posted across MCC’s social media accounts (see 
appendix). A dedicated email address (district.centres@manchester.gov.uk) was also set up 
as another channel for residents to use to provide feedback. 
 
Online Consultation  
 

2.6 A webpage for the consultation was set up on the manchester.gov.uk website and went live 
on 26 June 2023. This provided information on the key principles of the draft Strategy and a 
link to a downloadable PDF version of the full draft Strategy. The webpage also included a link 
to the online questionnaire and details of the in-person engagement sessions. 
 

 Elected Members  
 

2.7 The ward councillors in Moston had been involved in discussions about the draft framework 
since the work commenced in 2022, and they provided advice and support on the adopted 
consultation strategy with the local community. When the consultation was launched, ward 
members followed this up by circulating the consultation information through their networks, 
and promoting it in their conversations with residents and businesses in Moston. Members 
also attended a number of the in-person events that were held. 

 

Page 148

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

3 
 

Public Consultation Events  
 

2.8 Two public consultation drop-in sessions were held in the main hall in Simpson Memorial Hall, 
located on Moston Lane. The events were held 3-6pm on Thursday 13 July and 12-3pm on 
Saturday 15 July. 
 

2.9 Both sessions were staffed by representatives from MCC’s Development, Strategic Housing 
and Neighbourhoods Teams, alongside landscape architects from CW studio Ltd, who are 
designing the enhancements to three green spaces in Moston Lane (see ‘Pocket Parks’ below). 
 

2.10 At each event, visitors could look at the consultation boards, which showed the overall vision 
and objectives for Moston Lane, and highlighted plans for a new public square, new affordable 
homes, improved travel around Moston Lane and enhancing green spaces. MCC officers were 
also available to discuss any queries about the draft strategy. An A3 hard copy of the full draft 
strategy was also available for visitors to read.  
 

2.11 Both events were well attended, with approximately 120 attendees on the Thursday and 114 
attendees recorded on the Saturday.  
 

2.12 At both events, hard copies of the feedback form were provided with a freepost envelope to 
assist residents without internet access.  

 
 Targeted Engagement Groups 
 
2.13 Officers from the Neighbourhoods team also identified a number of local groups to engage: 

  
 Moston Lane Trader’s Association  
 Moston Home Watch  
 Moston Muslim Community Centre (Masjid AI-Noor) 
 Bowler’s Club  
 Moston Matters  
 

Page 149

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

4 
 

 

 
 

Public consultation drop-in sessions at Simpson Memorial Hall on 13 July (top) and 15 July 
(bottom). 

 
 
  

Page 150

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

5 
 

3.0 SUMMARY AND EVALUATION OF RESPONSES 

 Total Responses  
 
3.1 In total, we received 494 completed questionnaire responses, of which 43 were hard copy 

questionnaire responses and 451 were completed online. This represents a healthy response 
rate, and compares with 271 responses to the Wythenshawe Civic consultation in 2022 and 
268 returns for the Gorton District Centre NDF consultation in the same year. 
 
About the people who responded 
 

3.2 Three quarters of respondents live on or near Moston Lane. Looking at the additional 
comments provided, it seems that many respondents who don’t actually live on Moston Lane 
used to, or still have, family in the area.  
 

3.3 27.6% of respondents said they visited Moston Lane for shopping, which is notable given that 
a) Moston Lane is only a local centre, and Harpurhey is – in planning terms – the primary 
shopping destination in this part of the city; and b) many people responded negatively in terms 
of the quality of the retail offer along Moston Lane. 
 

3.4 Nearly 70% of respondents (68.8%) visit Moston Lane at least once a week, whilst 10% did 
report ‘never’ visiting – this perhaps reflects those residents who live elsewhere in Moston 
ward who replied to the consultation.  

 
 Current perceptions of Moston Lane (Q4), and hopes for the future (Q13) 
 
3.5 We asked people “How would you describe Moston Lane in 3 words?”, and also “Use 3 words 

to describe how you would like Moston Lane to be in the future”. The responses are listed 
below and set out in two ‘word clouds’. 
 

“How would you describe Moston Lane in 3 
words?” 
 
Top 10 most used words: 
 

 Dirty  
 Unsafe 
 Scruffy  
 Busy  
 Rundown  
 Disgrace 
 Neglected  
 Dangerous  
 Scary  
 Disgusting  

 

“Use 3 words to describe how you would 
like Moston Lane to be in the future.”  
 
The top 10 most used words were: 
 

 Clean  
 Safe  
 Vibrant  
 Friendly  
 Community 
 Green  
 Modern  
 Welcoming 
 Attractive 
 Diverse/Inclusive  

 
 

 
 

Page 151

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

6 
 

 

 
 
Above: word cloud of responses to Q4 “How would you describe Moston Lane in 3 words?” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

7 
 

 
  
Above: word cloud of responses to Q13 “Use 3 words to describe how you would like Moston 
Lane to be in the future”. 
 

3.6 These responses indicate that residents are keen to see improvements to the quality of the 
local environment and cleanliness of Moston Lane, and to enjoy a greater sense of safety, 
alongside any physical changes proposed in the Moston Lane NDF. 
 

 
  

Page 153

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

8 
 

Feedback on our objectives for Moston Lane (Q5) 
 

3.7 We asked people “What do you think about our objectives for Moston Lane?”. The seven 
objectives are listed below, along with the responses: 

 
1. Establishing a stronger local centre and creating new community focused space. 71% of 

respondents were in support. 
 

2. Delivering new homes within the local centre. 68% respondents were in support of this 
proposal.  
 

3. Improve the quality and management of private rented homes.  85% respondents were 
in support of this proposal.  
 

4. Improving the public realm along Moston Lane. This received the highest level of support, 
from 88% of respondents.  
 

5. Supporting sustainable movement around the local centre and to surrounding green 
spaces. 80% of respondents were in support.  
 

6. Enhancing our existing spaces to offer improved functions for the local community. 81% 
expressed support.  
 

7. Improving provision of car parking. 76% respondents were in favour.  
 

 
 Figure 1: Responses to ‘What do you think about our proposals for Moston Lane?’  

 
3.8 The strong positive response indicate that the framework has correctly identified many of the 

issues of concern in Moston Lane, and has set out a series of responses to those issues that 
local residents support.  

 
  

Page 154

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

9 
 

 Feedback on proposals for a new public square 
 
3.9 Moston Lane does not currently have a particular focal point or space where people can meet 

and where events can take place. This was identified as a weakness in the draft framework, 
and the creation of a new square somewhere along Moston Lane was identified as an 
objective for the future.   
 

3.10 We asked people “Would you like to see a new square like this in Moston?” (Q7) and “What 
do you think are the important things that would go into a new square in Moston?” (Q8). 
 

3.11 Overall, respondents were supportive of a new public square in Moston, with 68% of 
respondents in favour (see Figure 2). 

 
 Figure 2: Illustration of responses to ‘Would you like to see a new square like this in Moston?’  
 
3.12 Responses to Question 8, and what residents would like to see in a new square, are set out 

below in Figure 3. Several respondents [17] wished to see a range of shops, cafes or 
restaurants on the square. Other comments received also supported the idea of community 
events. 
 

3.13 A large number of responses [83] expressed concern about potential for anti-social behaviour 
in the square. Additionally, several of these respondents wished to see security measures such 
as CCTV, or increased police presence. 
 

3.14 Some respondents supported the idea of high-quality, maker’s markets in the square, 
however, some respondents queried the need for a market in Moston, given its proximity to 
Harpurhey market. 
 

3.15 Other comments [22] wanted to understand how the square would be maintained and 
cleaned.  
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 155

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

10 
 

Figure 3: Responses to ‘What do you think are the important things that would go into a new square 
in Moston? 

 

 

  

Page 156

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

11 
 

Pocket Parks 
 
3.16 Along Moston Lane there are three areas of green space that the draft framework identified 

as requiring investment – these are the Peace Gardens, St Dunstan’s Green, and the front 
garden area of the Simpson Memorial Hall.  
 

3.17 For the purposes of the consultation these three spaces were termed ‘pocket parks’ and we 
asked people “Do you use any of these pocket parks?” (Q10) and “Do you have any suggestions 
to improve these three pocket parks?” (Q11). 
 

3.18 Overall, the majority of respondents [72%] said they did not currently use the pocket parks, 
as illustrated below in Figure 4. Many comments received referenced anti-social behaviour as 
a deterrent to using these spaces. However, several respondents welcomed the idea of 
designing these spaces to improve their perception of safety i.e. improved lighting, and better 
visibility on to Moston Lane. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 4: Responses to ‘do you use any of these pocket parks?’ 
 

3.19 Among the suggestions to improve these pocket parks, several respondents wished to see 
more colours or different types of plants [20], in addition to more seating [19] and better 
lighting [19]. Many residents also said that they wanted to see improved cleanliness and 
maintenance of the pocket parks. These comments will be used to inform the proposals for 
the pocket parks currently being developed. 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 157

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

12 
 

 New Homes  
 
3.20 There are a number of sites within the Moston Lane NDF area where residential development 

is planned to come forward, with some schemes on site, and some still being designed.  
 

3.21 Respondents were asked “Do you support new homes being built on vacant land?” (Q12). 69% 
respondents supported new homes, 21% said they do no not, and 10% said they do not know, 
as per Figure 5 below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 5: Responses to ‘do you support new homes being built on vacant land?’ 
 

3.22 Several respondents supported the provision of affordable tenures, and many expressed 
dissatisfaction with the private rented sector in the area. A number of respondents also raised 
the question of new school places and additional health capacity to meet the needs of the 
residents who will occupy the new homes. These points have been addressed in the updated 
framework document.  

 
 

 
  

Page 158

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

13 
 

Other issues raised 
 

3.23 Whilst the focus of the consultation was on the changes proposed in the draft Development 
Framework, we were conscious that residents may have their own ideas about what changes 
should be made in Moston Lane, and that there may be other issues that we need to be aware 
of as we finalise the framework. As such, we asked people “Do you have any other ideas about 
what changes we should consider for Moston Lane?” (Q6) “Is there anything else you think we 
should consider as part of the new framework?” (Q14). 
 

3.24 A number of particular topics came up in both the written feedback and in the course of the 
consultation events. 
 

3.25 Moston Lane Shops: Although the survey did not include a specific question regarding the 
shops on Moston Lane, a large number of respondents expressed dissatisfaction with the 
current retail offer on Moston Lane. Several respondents highlighted that the shops did not 
appeal to them, with some respondents expressing their dissatisfaction with the condition of 
the shop frontages. This issue, and the potential responses to it, has been considered in the 
updated NDF. 
 

3.26 Hough Hall: Although we did not ask a specific question on Hough Hall, some respondents [10] 
raised questions on the future of this property. Those that commented on Hough Hall were in 
agreement and expressed disappointment at the state of Hough Hall, highlighting that its 
restoration or preservation should be included in the development framework. 
 

3.27 Neighbourhood and environmental issues: several respondents expressed dissatisfaction 
over neighbourhood issues within the Moston Lane corridor, including: 
 Fly-tipping  
 Pest Control  
 Littering 
 Encroachment by traders on the footway 
 Parking on the pavement  

 
3.28 Whilst the above matters are not within the intended scope of a development framework, 

they have nonetheless been identified as important to the community. These comments, and 
others addressing wider ‘environmental’ issues, have been shared with the MCC 
Neighbourhoods Team, and work has already started with other services across the Council to 
prioritise areas in and around Moston Lane and take a holistic and intensive neighbourhood 
management approach. This has been included in the action plan in the final draft of the NDF. 
 
Community cohesion 
 

3.29 In both the questionnaires and the in-person events there were frequent references to 
immigration, race and ethnicity, and the changing demographics in Moston Lane over the past 
twenty years. Many of these comments were in the context of the retail offer, and the 
perception that most shops were now focused on serving particular ethnic groups.  
 

Page 159

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

14 
 

3.30 Age and ethnicity questions were not included in the online or written questionnaire (they are 
not routinely included in MCC consultations such as this), so it is not possible to specify any 
particular patterns around which groups expressed such sentiments.  
 

3.31 Such issues of ‘community cohesion’ and ‘integration’ are not new to the city and are not 
unique to Moston. In 2022 the Council consulted on its first Integrated Communities Strategy, 
and in 2023 it is anticipated that the Council will publish its first Building Stronger Communities 
Strategy. The issues raised through this consultation have been picked up through the 
Council's community sentiments analysis process and will be a priority for North Manchester's 
delivery of the strategy. 
 

3.32 The Moston Lane NDF can support these efforts to promote integration in a number of ways, 
as the role of the physical environment in helping to shape communities is well-recognised. 
At a basic level, providing good quality new and refurbished open spaces – as set out in the 
framework – can over time allow for greater mixing between groups who might otherwise be 
separated by housing patterns or income. Creating attractive, safe neighbourhoods with a 
good range of shops and amenities also promotes stronger community spirit, as do local 
community groups, such as Moston Matters, who bring people together from a wide variety 
of backgrounds.  
 
 
 

  
  

Page 160

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

15 
 

Consultation and feedback from local groups and stakeholders  
 
3.33 Specific meetings or consultation sessions were arranged with a number of local groups and 

organisations, as follows.  
 
3.34 Moston Lane Trader’s Association: given the work commitments of the people running 

businesses on Moston Lane, a separate briefing session was provided for them on Sunday 16 

July. 24 shop owners and shop tenants attended. The topics raised included: 
 The new square: traders were keen to understand where this would be located, and the 

potential impact on adjacent businesses if any demolition was required. 
 What type of new shops or food/beverage outlets would be located in the new square, 

and how they would be marketed and let. 
 Timescales for the changes proposed in the NDF. 
 Support available to existing businesses on Moston Lane to improve/expand/invest in 

their premises.  
 

3.35 Moston Matters: this group is a ‘community pride campaign’, bringing together businesses, 
residents and the Council. It aims, celebrate what makes Moston and New Moston unique and 
vibrant places to live and work, and has helped to deliver projects such as the banners erected 
on Moston Lane. Officers had previously briefed the group on an early draft of the framework, 
and its members were written to and invited to submit their comments as part of the 
consultation process. 
 

3.36 As the various projects within the framework are delivered in the years ahead, Moston 
Matters will continue to provide a helpful consultative forum for officers to test proposals and 
discuss new initiatives.  
 

3.37 Moston Muslim Community Centre (Masjid AI-Noor): Representatives from the Centre have 
highlighted that they are interested in expansion to better meet the needs of a growing 
community, and a petition was submitted during the consultation, signed by worshippers, 
expressing a keenness to secure a site in Moston Lane. Officers are now in dialogue with the 
representatives from the Centre to better understand their requirements, and this will form 
part of the NDF action plan. 

 
3.38 Moston Home Watch:  Officers from the MCC Development Team attended a Moston Home 

Watch meeting on 6 July 2023. The Home Watch Group is based in New Moston which is 
outside the area covered by the draft development framework. 
 

3.39 The feedback raised by the group included:  
 Several respondents felt that MCC predominantly focus on Moston Lane, and although 

New Moston is part of the Moston ward they feel forgotten.  
 Many residents of New Moston used to live nearer to Moston Lane but have moved away 

due to its perception as unsafe/unwelcoming.  
 In line with feedback from other consultation responses, several respondents raised that 

the shops on Moston Lane are untidy/ need attention, and that there are no shops for 
them on Moston Lane, hence only visit the area if essential.  

 

Page 161

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

16 
 

3.40 Simpson Memorial Bowling Green members: Overall, the Bowlers were supportive of the 
proposals. Similar to the above, they highlighted that the retail offer need to broadening to 
make Moston Lane appeal to them.  
 

  

Page 162

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

17 
 

Conclusions and next steps 
 

4.1 The headline proposals in the draft Moston Lane NDF were positively received. In many cases, 
 respondents raised legitimate questions about how the proposals would be delivered and/or 
 managed over the long-term (e.g. how the new square would be looked after, or what tenure 
 the new homes would be), and such questions will be considered as and when the individual 
 projects come forward. 

 
4.2 The draft NDF document will, where possible, be amended to reflect some of the feedback 

received, for example to address the Moston Lane ‘retail offer’ and to respond to questions 
about school and health provision. The updated NDF will be presented to the MCC Executive 
for endorsement, and thereafter officers will start the process of delivering the projects and 
interventions set out in the framework, subject to funding and any further approvals that may 
be required (e.g. planning permission). Further consultation on specific projects will be 
undertaken on a case by case basis. 
 

4.3 The wider environmental, liveability and community cohesion issues identified during this 
consultation will be assessed and addressed, in consultation with teams across MCC and 
partners such as GMP.  

 
 

 
  

Page 163

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

18 
 

Appendix 1: Postcard issued to residents in the NDF red line area, and plan of the red line area 
 

 
 

 

Page 164

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

19 
 

Appendix 2: Consultation Boards  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

20 
 

Appendix 3 – media release (screengrab from MCC website) 
 
https://www.manchester.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations_and_surveys/8601/moston_lane_cons
ultation  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

21 
 

Appendix 4 – media coverage 
 
Manchester Evening News  
https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/what-vision-moston-could-look-27202786  
 

 

Page 167

Item 8Appendix 2,



 

22 
 

 
Place North West 
https://www.placenorthwest.co.uk/moston-in-manchesters-regeneration-crosshairs/ 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 168

Item 8Appendix 2,



Document is Restricted

Page 169

Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Access to the Antechamber
	Filming and broadcast of the meeting

	3 Minutes
	7 Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy 2023 - 2026
	Manchester City Council
	Report for Information
	Report of:	Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods)
	Recommendations
	Wards Affected: All
	Contact Officers:
	Background documents (available for public inspection): None





	Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy 2023-26 App1
	Introduction
	Our communities, our story
	Our vision
	Joining it together
	Establishing our priorities
	Our priorities for the next three years
	Our behaviours
	What we are going to do
	Measuring our impact
	Our governance and accountability
	Our Manchester – links to other strategies

	Building Stronger Communities Together Strategy 2023-26 App2

	8 Moston Lane Development Framework (Part A)
	Moston Lane Development Framework - PART A App1
	Moston Lane Development Framework - PART A App2

	10 Moston Lane Development Framework - Acquisitions (Part B)

